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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Good afternoon.  I

          3  am Council Member Philip Reed, Chair of Consumer

          4  Affairs.  And I am joined today by my colleagues,

          5  Council Member Joe Addabbo from Queens, Council

          6  Member Eric Gioia, also from Queens.  I know that

          7  several of my other colleagues are here in the

          8  building taking care of some other things, and they

          9  will also be joining us.  I am sorry, and also

         10  Council Member Gale Brewer from Manhattan, who is

         11  one of the people introducing legislation today.  I

         12  beg your pardon, Council Member Clarke, I really

         13  cannot see around the bend there.  Council Member

         14  Yvette Clarke.  All people who are very concerned

         15  about the issue that we are addressing this

         16  afternoon.

         17                 This afternoon we are going to

         18  explore the issue of violent video games in our

         19  community.  Over the last several years, some

         20  parents and activists have railed against the

         21  increasingly violent and graphic video games that

         22  are available to minors.  They argue that such

         23  games, which typically receive an M or an Adults

         24  Only rating from the industry- based Entertainment's

         25  Software Ratings Board are inappropriate and

                                                            5

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  offensive.  Some believe these games perpetuate

          3  marchinistic (phonetic) and racist stereotypes, and

          4  that they encourage children towards violence and

          5  hatred.

          6                 A wide cross- section of concerned

          7  citizens has called on the Council to regulate these

          8  games and to curtail their distribution.  In

          9  response, a variety of legal scholars, and video

         10  game industry, representatives argue that the games

         11  are protected under the free speech, and as such

         12  cannot be regulated.  Federal judges have supported

         13  this view consistently, ruling against attempts to

         14  control violent video games.

         15                 In addition, the video game industry

         16  argues that it is working with retailers to educate

         17  parents and children on appropriate game playing,

         18  and to enforce a stringent rating system for the

         19  games.

         20                 We, at the Council, have been

         21  struggling with this issues and are considering two

         22  introductions and three resolutions about violent

         23  video games.  Before we discuss the complexities of

         24  the bills in front of us, I think it is important to

         25  see exactly what we are discussing.  I am going to
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          2  play a videotape of scenes from one of the M- rated

          3  games.  And I would suggest that I do this with the

          4  caveat that the staff has included some disturbing

          5  and graphic images, which include bloodshed and

          6  virtual and actual nudity.

          7                 (Video shown.)

          8                 Thank you, and I know some people, I

          9  think all of us are disturbed by that in terms of

         10  the content.  As you can understand after viewing

         11  these tapes, these games raise a host of difficult

         12  issues.  There is a natural impulse to want to keep

         13  minors away from these games.  Some might wish to do

         14  away with them all together.  However, this must be

         15  balanced with careful consideration of First

         16  Amendment Rights, and to a lessor extent, the

         17  activities of a healthy, commercial market place

         18                 We do not intend to solve the problem

         19  of violent video games with this hearing.  Rather it

         20  is an unbiased opportunity to gather information

         21  from all sides, and to discuss what we can do

         22  together, as a community, to protect both our young

         23  people and our personal liberties.

         24                 I want to, before I call on my

         25  colleagues, who have introduced some of this
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          2  legislation, to make some opening comments, I want

          3  to introduce the other members of the Council who

          4  have joined us, Council Member James Sanders, Jr.

          5  From Queens, and Council Member Peter Vallone, Jr.

          6  From Queens.  That is right, that is the junior

          7  wing.  And Council Member Vincent Gentile, thank

          8  you, is here, and now Council Member John Liu is

          9  also here.  Thank you very much, all, for being here

         10  today.

         11                 Council Member Brewer has introduced

         12  Intro. 18, which would prohibit the sale of video

         13  games to minors, and Resolution 10 calling on the

         14  industry and retailers to enforce the rating

         15  systems.  I know she has had to step into the other

         16  room, so we will hear from Council Member Gioia, who

         17  has introduced Intro. 60, to amend the

         18  Administrative Code of the City of New York in

         19  relation to the commercial display of video or

         20  computer games. Council Member Gioia.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chair.  Video games have come a long way since Pong

         23  and PacMan.  When I was a kid, a yellow circle

         24  gobbling up white dots was the height of technology.

         25    I applaud the video game industry for the advances
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          2  they have made.  Video games, as we have just seen,

          3  are increasingly realistic.  But killing cops,

          4  beating women, and committing hate crimes are not

          5  something I want my children practicing in living,

          6  vivid color.

          7                 These games actually encourage and

          8  reward them for performing acts of violence and

          9  brutality.  We are here today to talk about how a

         10  failed system is allowing inappropriate and

         11  offensive video games to get in the hands of minors,

         12  and what we can do about it.

         13                 I chair the Committee of Oversight

         14  and Investigations.  The results of investigations

         15  conducted just a few such months ago, shows that a

         16  minor can walk into almost any store in New York

         17  City selling video games and purchase them without

         18  any difficulty at all.  In fact, a minor was able to

         19  purchase a matured rated video game, some of the

         20  games we just saw, a minor was able to purchase some

         21  of the games we just saw 97 percent of the time,

         22  according to our investigation.  This business is

         23  big business.

         24                 The best selling video game, Grand

         25  Theft Auto Vice City, sold about $1.4 million copies
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          2  in just the first three days of its release, for

          3  about $70 million in sales.  If you look at this

          4  weekend's movie opening, Box Office receipts, you

          5  will see that this video game outsold every single,

          6  movie released in America last week.

          7                 The computer and video game software

          8  industry, as a whole, generated a record setting

          9  $6.9 billion in sales in 2002. In the meantime, 70

         10  percent of children 18 and under live in a home with

         11  at least one video game player.  However, only 55

         12  percent of the households with children professed to

         13  understand the video game ratings.  Ninety- one

         14  percent of teenagers reported playing video games

         15  mainly alone, outside the presence of their parents

         16  or other supervising adults.  Only 8 percent of the

         17  games received an M rating, they are

         18  disproportionately popular.  M- rated video games

         19  represented three out of the top 10, that is 30

         20  percent, of the best video game titles, including

         21  the number one and number two best selling video

         22  games.

         23                 There exists a voluntary rating

         24  system now, that we have discussed, one that parents

         25  do not understand.  The existing voluntary rating
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          2  system classifies these games as inappropriate for

          3  anyone under the age of 17, and five of the six

          4  retailer chains we contacted, verbally reported that

          5  they support ESRB Rating system, and have a clear

          6  store policy not to sell the M- rated video games to

          7  minors.  Yet, in our investigation all of these

          8  stores ended up selling M- rated video games to a

          9  minor.

         10                 So how do these games end up in the

         11  hands of our children?  For one thing, only three

         12  stores that we surveyed, that is 9 percent of the

         13  stores we have surveyed, actually asked minors

         14  attempting to purchase an M- rated video game to

         15  provide proof- of age, as that pie chart, over

         16  there, shows.  After they asked the minors, and this

         17  is the funny part, of the 9 percent that asked the

         18  children to show ID, two of these stores sold the

         19  minor an M- rated video game anyway, even after the

         20  identification that they showed them, show that they

         21  were under 17.

         22                 Only 10 percent of the stores, that

         23  is 29 percent, displayed the ESRB Rating system, and

         24  the content descriptors. That is the purple bar on

         25  this graph.
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          2                 Eight of the eleven large stores

          3  surveyed, that is 73 percent, posted the ratings and

          4  context descriptors.  Whereas only two of the

          5  twenty- two small retailers, 9 percent as the graph

          6  to my right indicates, showed it.

          7                 Six stores, 17 percent, posted a sign

          8  that explained the store's policy regarding the sale

          9  of M- rated video games to minors.  That is the

         10  green bar on that graph.

         11                 Five of the eleven retail stores

         12  surveyed, displayed the store's policy governing M-

         13  rated video games, and only one of the twenty- two

         14  small retail locations that we visited, that is 5

         15  percent, posted the store policy.

         16                 All totaled, minors were able to

         17  purchase M- rated video games, that these are video

         18  games that show the maiming and killing of police

         19  officers, they show violence against women, they

         20  show nudity, 97 percent of the time children were

         21  able to buy these video games.  So truly today, the

         22  first message that we have, is parents beware.  The

         23  video games your children are buying, if they were a

         24  movie, would be rated X.

         25                 Our findings led us to a few
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          2  conclusions:

          3                 Store policies to adhere to the ESRB

          4  Rating system are not adequately communicated to

          5  consumers, and certainly not adequately enforced by

          6  store personnel.

          7                 Second, now the Consumer's North

          8  Store personnel adequately understood the rating

          9  system.  We did not find a lot of signage explaining

         10  the ratings, and store clerks sold inappropriate

         11  games to minors even when they knew that they were

         12  under age.

         13                 I believe part of a rational solution

         14  to this issue is to pass legislation, in this body,

         15  that will help consumers, but not be overly

         16  burdensome to businesses.  And most importantly,

         17  legislation that will protect our children.  This

         18  legislation will empower parents and protect our

         19  children.

         20                 This legislation will require that

         21  violent mature rated video games be separated and be

         22  displayed in separate bins than the other video

         23  games.  It will also require that the Display Rating

         24  system be conspicuous.

         25                 Introduction 60, in this City
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          2  Council, will require stores that rent or sell these

          3  video games to display mature or adult- only rated

          4  games separately from video games intended for wider

          5  audiences.  This is similar to what is done in video

          6  stores that carry adult theme movies.

          7                 Beyond just mandating separate

          8  displays, it calls for stores to conspicuously

          9  identify displays of mature- rated games as

         10  inappropriate for sale to anyone under the age of

         11  17, and posting signs that list the current rating

         12  system, and describe what these ratings mean.

         13                 The goal is to get to empower

         14  parents, to give them the tools they need to make

         15  informed decisions for their children. Parents want

         16  to make their children happy, that is an

         17  understandable feeling.  What parent would not want

         18  to do that? But if parents do not understand, as a

         19  matter of fact, there was a police officer, at the

         20  metal detectors right here at City Hall, who told me

         21  after we did a press conference on this, he said,

         22  you know, I bought my child Grand Theft Auto Vice

         23  City, I had no idea it was a cop killing video game.

         24    The moment I saw your press conference, I returned

         25  it.
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          2                 And so parents, most parents, many

          3  parents, do not want, would not buy these for their

          4  children.  They certainly do not want their children

          5  doing this.  But it is our contention that these

          6  parents actually do not know what their children are

          7  playing or doing, and the current rating system does

          8  not give them that information, does not provide

          9  them with the tools they need to make an informed

         10  judgement in the best interest of their child.

         11                 We will now, I am sure hear from

         12  Council Member Brewer who has also been a tireless

         13  advocate on this issue, and about her legislation,

         14  and from the Chair, as well, who has been a great

         15  leader on this.  And I am looking forward to working

         16  with all the advocates in the room, and let me thank

         17  you, I know some of you have traveled a great

         18  distance to be here today.  Thank you, this is an

         19  important day in the Council, and an important piece

         20  of legislation both for New York City, and truly for

         21  the country, so thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, Council

         23  Member.  The report that he is referring that the

         24  Council, under his leadership, as Chair of Oversight

         25  and Investigations is also available, if you would
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          2  like a copy of it, in terms of the statistics.

          3                 Council Member Brewer, as I had said

          4  before, is also the prime sponsor on several pieces

          5  of legislation.  I would urge my colleagues to be

          6  brief in their opening statements so that we can

          7  hear from the witnesses.  Thank you, well, you know

          8  the young, Council Member Brewer.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I will be

         10  very brief.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, thank you,

         11  Eric Gioia.  I have introduced three bills, one,

         12  Intro. 18 bans the sale of violent video games to

         13  children under 18.  One, Resolution #10, calls on

         14  the industry to enforce its rating system, and Reso.

         15  12, parental advisory stickers on M- rated games.

         16                 I want to say two things, one is that

         17  just in the time of the last couple of days there

         18  was an article indicating, no surprise to any of us,

         19  TV viewing is down, but video and computer games

         20  participation, people playing them, is up.  And

         21  that, I think, is something that we should be very,

         22  very conscious of as a society.

         23                 I also want to mention that I know

         24  this is something that the First Amendment attorneys

         25  will talk about.  We know that the scientifically
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          2  significant, social science studies do not

          3  necessarily show that is a direct correlation,

          4  because there are so many factors, between exposure

          5  to violent video and computer games, such as the

          6  ones we saw earlier, and a form of hostile and anti

          7  social behavior, such as one hears about, and

          8  certainly, some of us have experienced.  However, I

          9  feel strongly that the industry has not done a self-

         10  regulation that is adequate, Eric Gioia went through

         11  some examples.  But I also want to mention how

         12  confusing it is for parents, and you see the listing

         13  over there.  But one is, as an example is, although

         14  our legislation only covers M- rated games, there is

         15  actually a new study out by the Harvard School of

         16  Public Health talking about the T- rated games.

         17  That is one of the ratings that was identified in

         18  the report.  There are so many ratings, it is

         19  confusing for parents.

         20                 One of the questions we are going to

         21  ask the industry is, can you explain the discrepancy

         22  between the percentage of T- rated games with

         23  violent content, because the Harvard study said that

         24  71 percent were violent.  But the industry, ESRB

         25  said that the content of the same exact videos was
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          2  only 33 percent. That is just one example of the

          3  challenges that this industry has not addressed.

          4                 I will not reiterate what Eric Gioia

          5  stated, but I will just mention that although one

          6  could argue, I know that my wonderful friend,

          7  Franklin Madison, will say this, there are jobs here

          8  in New York for this industry, but when you put out

          9  something like "The Suffering," which is what

         10  everybody, 12- year- old, I know is talking about,

         11  it is what is known as an ultra- mature content. It

         12  is not something that we should be supporting.

         13                 So this is a long discussion, I think

         14  we did a great job just in having the hearing today.

         15    I thank the Chairman from the quality of the

         16  ratings, the number of the ratings, the industry as

         17  a whole, there is a lot of examination that needs to

         18  go on here today.  And I thank you, Mr. Chairman,

         19  for allowing me to be part of it.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

         21  Council Member Yvette Clarke.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Thank you

         23  very much, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you for bringing

         24  this issue to light in this forum today.

         25                 I am proposing a resolution,
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          2  Resolution #15, which is calling upon the Council of

          3  the City of New York to denounce the selling of

          4   "Grand Theft Auto Vice City," which is a violent

          5  and racist video game, which advocates the killing

          6  of Haitians and Cubans as entertainment.  And I am

          7  also calling on all concerned citizens to support an

          8  economic boycott of the video game's maker, Rob Star

          9  Games Incorporated and its parent company, Take To

         10  Interactive Software.

         11                 While this may seem to some like a

         12  very drastic step, let me tell you what is drastic.

         13  What is drastic here is that in the year 2004 we

         14  have a company that sees fit to profit off of the

         15  promotion of hate crimes, discriminating and

         16  perpetuating stereotypes of Haitian and Cuban people

         17  as low- life drug dealers who are unworthy of

         18  living, and thereby, instructing all game

         19  participants to kill all Haitians.

         20                 The singling out of the ethnic and

         21  cultural groups and depicting them as less than

         22  human, and worthy of extermination as a people, and

         23  perpetuating the degradation of these people, is

         24  totally unacceptable.  We have seen what hate crimes

         25  have perpetuated across this city, across this
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          2  nation, and certainly throughout the world.  And we

          3  have seen the results of those who would focus their

          4  energies on various groups of people throughout our

          5  history, and the negative impact it has had on all

          6  of us, and what it speaks to with respect to our

          7  humanity.  I wonder what got into the minds of those

          8  who would create a game that singles out a cultural

          9  and ethnic group for extermination.

         10                 But what I am saying today, is that

         11  it is not enough for this company to continue to

         12  promote this games.  It is not enough that during

         13  the Christmas Holidays, when this issue was brought

         14  to their attentions, they promoted it throughout

         15  communities of color, where, indeed, many Haitian-

         16  Americans reside and have been productive parts of

         17  our society.  This company continues to profit time

         18  and time again from the sale of what I consider to

         19  be hate material.

         20                 The game participants are rewarded by

         21  this game over and over again for the extermination

         22  of a people.  This is totally unacceptable, and we

         23  are calling on this Committee, today, to do a

         24  thorough examination.  I believe that all of the

         25  pieces of legislation today put us in a very unique
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          2  position to really revolutionize this industry.  It

          3  must be held accountable for our sake, and for the

          4  sake of future generations, and the children of

          5  tomorrow, that if the industry, itself, is not going

          6  to be self governing in a way in which we can exist

          7  in a very healthy and wholesome environment, then we

          8  must take whatever measures necessary to make them

          9  conform to the values that perpetuate a healthy

         10  society.  Indeed, the Vice City, Grand Thefts Auto

         11  game is, in my humble opinion, an invention that has

         12  really debased who were are, and what we represent

         13  as a society.

         14                 While they have every right to create

         15  whatever games they see fit, to single out,

         16  discriminate, and target for extinction a people in

         17  our society is totally unacceptable.

         18                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, Council

         20  member, and Council members.

         21                 I would like to ask the

         22  Administration to come to the witness table, please?

         23    And while they are doing that, I just want to also

         24  identify and thank several of the staff people who

         25  have participated in putting this together, the
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          2  Counsel to this Committee, Deborah Brown, and

          3  Jonathan Ettricks, the Legislative Policy Analyst,

          4  who I think is somewhere here.  He was the one who

          5  made sure the tape work.  And on the Investigations

          6  and Oversight Committee, Wayne Kawadler, and Triada

          7  Stampas, and Torrence Allen. And I know, certainly,

          8  on Council Member Brewer's staff, Ali Davis. So I

          9  want to thank them, I am sure there are others who

         10  have participated.  Also, want to take this moment

         11  to say that my staff, the Legislative Director,

         12  Arron Lowenstein, who many of you know, and has been

         13  terrific, is leaving the Council.  And I prefer to

         14  think it of that, than is leaving me.  And I think

         15  you are going to Law School, so we may see him again

         16  in another context.  So we just want to say, thank

         17  you for the work you have done.  Thank you.

         18                 Ms. Toole.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Good

         20  afternoon, Chairman Reed, and let me just say that

         21  we, too, will be sorry to see Arron go.

         22                 Good afternoon, Chairman and members

         23  of the Consumer Affairs Committee.  I am Pauline

         24  Toole, Assistant Commissioner for the Department of

         25  the Consumer Affairs.  Commissioner Dykstra asked me
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          2  to thank you for this opportunity to comment on the

          3  package of two bills on violent video games.

          4                 The intent of the legislation you are

          5  considering to prevent the sale and distribution of

          6  violent video games to minors, however laudatory, is

          7  outweighed by its impractical enforcement aspects.

          8                 There is little question that the

          9  violent video games like "Grand Theft Auto," which

         10  contains offensive dialogue urging players to kill

         11  the Haitians do not promote public virtues, this

         12  Administration has denounced that game and the hate

         13  that it expresses.  We believe that the games like

         14  the ones you have previewed are repugnant and

         15  offensive, these games do not promote public

         16  virtues.  These violent video games promote instead

         17  destructive values by dehumanizing individuals and

         18  groups, and by legitimizing conducts that are

         19  injurious or expletive toward said groups.  These

         20  video games should be condemned.  The condemnation

         21  should, however, be expressed in the one way that

         22  would have the greatest impact on the polluters of

         23  community values and public virtues:  Don't buy

         24  their games for your kids, and don't let your

         25  children play these games.  Parental discretion and
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          2  involvement, rather than legislation is the

          3  prescription that is most likely to effectively

          4  limit the sale of such videos.

          5                 We are hopeful that the spotlight you

          6  are shining on the video gaming industry will help

          7  inform parents that there are many violent and

          8  offensive video games on the market, and that they

          9  should be attentive to what their children are

         10  playing.

         11                 The first of the two bills before

         12  you, Intro. 60 would require that the violent video

         13  games be physically separated from other video games

         14  and store displays.  That they be conspicuously

         15  identified as games intended for persons over 17

         16  years of age, and that the current rating system and

         17  the clear description of the ratings be disclosed

         18  where the games are displayed.

         19                 The second, Intro. 18 would ban the

         20  sale of violent video games to minors.  Both bills

         21  would impose an escalating fine structure for

         22  violations.

         23                 The mandatory disclosure requirements

         24  that Intro. 60 would imposed are, however, both

         25  faulty in design and unlikely to achieve their
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          2  intended purpose.  Intro. 60 would require the City

          3  Department of Consumer Affairs to enforce a rating

          4  system created and marketed by a private

          5  organization, the Entertainment Software Rating

          6  Board.  This private entity made up of the company's

          7  that create and market video games developed the

          8  rating system for videos ranging from C for early

          9  childhood to M for over age 17, and AO for adult

         10  audiences only.  This private system for rating

         11  relies on groupings of three industry selected

         12  individuals to develop consensus on a rating for a

         13  particular video game.  And what standard did they

         14  use, one developed by the industry.

         15                 DCA does not know if the standard is

         16  appropriate or viable.  However, the Department

         17  believes that it is inappropriate for a government

         18  agency to enforce the implementation of a private

         19  standard, particularly one that is derived based

         20  solely on industry definitions and without impartial

         21  guidelines and government oversight.  The standard

         22  is analogous to the system used to rate movies, a

         23  system most of us are familiar with.  But who

         24  enforces that standard?  The theater owners, not the

         25  government.  DCA does enforce octane readings in
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          2  gasoline, but those are a scientific measure of the

          3  properties of the chemical.  Where is the science

          4  behind the video game rating?  It does not exist.

          5  In fact, Councilwoman Brewer cited contradictory

          6  evaluations of video violence to prove this point

          7  when she was talking about this issue.

          8                 Further, the particular standard for

          9  rating video games has only recently been created.

         10  Many of the promotional materials do not even

         11  include the AO listing.  Use of the rating system is

         12  voluntary.  Video games can be sold without going

         13  through the rating process.  The Intro. Does not

         14  appear to regulate non rated games.  Even if it did,

         15  we would be faced with the fundamental question, who

         16  then is to determine where to display the game?

         17                 We believe that many parents are

         18  completely unaware of this rating system.  The best

         19  way to keep violent and offensive games away from

         20  children is for parents to pay attention to their

         21  child's purchases, promoting understanding of the

         22  system, and increasing parental oversight will

         23  protect children and society.

         24                 To complicate matters further,

         25  violent video games are sold in stores that DCA's
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          2  inspectors visit regularly as part of the

          3  Department's routine compliance inspection program,

          4  electronic stores, drug stores, supermarket.  The

          5  games are also offered for sale in a wide range of

          6  retail establishments like video stores, toy stores,

          7  department stores, stationary stores, gift shops,

          8  that are not subject to DCA's routine inspections.

          9  The widespread availability of the games would

         10  dilute the effectiveness of any enforcement effort

         11  that could be attempted.

         12                 Turning to Intro. 18, the outright

         13  ban on the sale of violent games also is faulty in

         14  design and unlikely to create the deterrence to bill

         15  promises for the following reasons:

         16                 First, the bill adopts a combination

         17  of a video game rating scheme developed by a private

         18  organization and the depiction of specified violent

         19  acts as the basis for identifying the games that

         20  could not be sold to minors.  It thereby again

         21  places the law at the service of a private

         22  organization by banning the sale of games based on

         23  ratings developed solely by the industry.  The

         24  bill's additional content- based standard would

         25  require the review of each game by inspectors to
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          2  determine if violent acts were depicted. This twin

          3  requirement would be a strong barrier to effective

          4  enforcement and also would raise first amendment

          5  issues.

          6                 Second, effective enforcement would

          7  require undercover sting operations that are very

          8  time consuming and resource intensive.  For example,

          9  the department conducts our retail cigarette

         10  undercover sting operation under a $1.5 million

         11  yearly grant from the New York State and

         12  administered by the New York City Department of

         13  Health and Mental Hygiene.  This operation utilizes

         14  10 inspectors, 2 supervisors, 1 director, 5

         15  clerical, and 40 undercover teens.  The project

         16  operates on weekends and evenings, given the teens'

         17  school schedules.  Additional costs include

         18  transportation for the undercover teens and the

         19  adjudication of violations.

         20                 DCA does not have the staff to

         21  effectively enforced this bill and carry out the

         22  agency's additional responsibilities. Since any

         23  conceivable enforcement, effort the Department could

         24  undertake would not come remotely close to achieving

         25  the compliance levels attained under the retail,
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          2  cigarette, enforcement program, which is basically

          3  85 percent.  The objectives of the legislation would

          4  remain largely unrealized.

          5                 Third, most games are purchased for

          6  children by adults, or with money given to children

          7  by adults, primarily because the games themselves

          8  are so expensive.  The ban on the sale to minors is,

          9  therefore, likely to have a negligible impact on

         10  minors getting hold of the games.

         11                 Finally, both bills fail to provide

         12  DCA with hearing authority to adjudicate violations

         13  in our existing administrative tribunal.  The lack

         14  of hearing authority would then require the

         15  Department to take the cases to court, making it

         16  prohibitively expensive to enforce compliance.

         17                 Thank you again for the opportunity

         18  to comment on the bills.  We do understand the

         19  importance of parents playing an active role in

         20  protecting their kids, and we would be happy to

         21  answer any questions you have.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you for your

         23  testimony, Ms. Toole.  Are there any specific

         24  legislative changed that you would suggest to this

         25  bill that might make it something that the
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          2  Administration could support?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  I do

          4  not have anything to suggest off- hand, no, Sir.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So it would not

          6  matter, no matter what we did in terms of writing

          7  this legislation, the Administration most likely

          8  would not be able to support that.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  I do

         10  not know if I would go that far either.  I do think

         11  that the Department would not support enforcing a

         12  private standard.  The Department would want to be

         13  able to enforce something that gave us the ability

         14  to do enforcement effectively, at a minimum that

         15  would include having hearing authority over the

         16  violations, as we do, for example, over toy guns.

         17  So we could take the issue and go and process it all

         18  the way through the system, but it would really

         19  depend on the legislation that you crafted.  We

         20  would also be guided by the City's Law Department,

         21  obviously, on any First Amendment issues that might

         22  arise.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I think the

         24  concern that I have, as the Chair, is that you know

         25  you are saying no to that, but you would be able to
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          2  work with the legislations of the Council as

          3  crafted.  Well, we just crafted some legislation,

          4  that is what you have in front of you today.  But

          5  you are not prepared today, as a representative of

          6  the Administration to say what suggestions you would

          7  make.  So I guess we are just supposed to continue

          8  to throw things up here as an idea, and then have

          9  you say, no, I do not want to talk about that one,

         10  or I cannot do that.  It does not seem to me that we

         11  are working on something constructively.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Well I

         13  guess I think the first step really is for the

         14  Council in its entirety and, you know, individually

         15  to inform parents that there is a real problem. I

         16  agree totally with what Councilwoman Brewer said

         17  earlier, and Council Member Gioia, that many parents

         18  do not know about the content of the videos, and if

         19  they knew about it, they would not permit their

         20  children to play or buy those to the extent that

         21  they have control over their children, or have

         22  influence on their children is probably a better way

         23  of saying that.

         24                 So certainly, I think using the bully

         25  pulpits to that word out is good.  I do not, we, as
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          2  a Department looked at what we were presented and

          3  were not asked to develop alternate scenarios.

          4  These are things that we think would be difficult to

          5  enforced for the reasons we stated.  I mean, I do

          6  not know where else to go with that though.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  What steps is the

          8  Administration taking in relationship to violent

          9  video games?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Well I

         11  know the Mayor has denounced Grand Theft Auto

         12  because it was reprehensible.  The Department does

         13  not have enforcement authority over these games, and

         14  we have not been doing anything about their sale,

         15  because it is outside of our jurisdiction.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Has the

         17  Administration created any public service

         18  announcements that parents might see as Council

         19  Member Gioia said, anecdotally, that one of the

         20  police officers here in seeing our news story became

         21  aware of this?  Is the Administration putting

         22  together any videos, documentaries, public service

         23  announcements that can be added on Channel 74?  You

         24  seem to have complete control of what the content on

         25  that show, on that station.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  I wish

          3  I did.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well the

          5  Administration does.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Okay,

          7  I mean - -

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So I am just

          9  curious, other than the Mayor denouncing Grand Theft

         10  Auto, what substantively has the Department, the

         11  Agency for Child, for --

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  ACS.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: - -  ACS, or the

         14  Department of Health, or the Police Department, has

         15  anybody done anything in the Administration, other

         16  than to denounce Grand Theft Auto, as it relates to

         17  making parents aware of the problems that we are

         18  facing and trying to address today?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Not

         20  that I am aware of, but it may well be that some

         21  sort of programming along the lines of what you

         22  suggested is in the works.  Certainly, NYCTV does do

         23  a lot of public service announcements, and I think

         24  using that police officer, should he be willing, in

         25  such a PSA is just a brilliant move.  So we would
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          2  certainly support that, and I can investigate or ask

          3  what NYCTV is doing.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Is there anybody

          5  else in the Administration we should ask what they

          6  are doing?  I mean, the budget is coming out, do we

          7  have any idea that there might be some money in the

          8  budget for any of this?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  I mean

         10  I do not know. I mean, I would think that NYCTV is

         11  the place that generally develops such materials as

         12  to whether each different agency, as you suggested,

         13  ACS, whether or not they are doing something.  I do

         14  not know, but we can certainly make inquiries, as

         15  you can, as you know.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  That would be

         17  great.  Thank you very much.

         18                 Council Member Brewer.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Pauline,

         20  thank you very much for your always, good testimony.

         21    My question is, just following up on what the

         22  Chair said, what kind, like when you started out

         23  with the cigarettes way before even this

         24  Administration, your agency was doing buying

         25  loosies, or trying to figure out what young people

                                                            34

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  were able to purchase, and you had the authority to

          3  do that.  Do you know what a loosie is?  Okay.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Yes, I

          5  know what a loosie is.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  A loosie is

          7  one cigarette, my kids, unfortunately, taught me.

          8  So the question is, is there, I understand you do

          9  not have the authority as you did with individual

         10  cigarettes, cigarettes are not supposed to be sold

         11  to people under a certain age.  But is there any

         12  kind of operation at all, that your agency could run

         13  that would highlight this issue, following up on

         14  what the Chairman said?  There may not be, because

         15  you do not have the authorization.  You are always

         16  very creative and so is your Commissioner, on

         17  thinking of ways of doing things.

         18                 I mean I do go back, I will not talk

         19  about Times Square and First Amendment, I will not

         20  discuss that.  But I would like to see if there is

         21  something creative.  You have been creative on other

         22  topics.  This is an issue, I think, smoking

         23  something, in some cases, the City, this Mayor was

         24  ahead of his time.  But I will tell you, this issue,

         25  as I indicated earlier was such heightened interest
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          2  for young people in playing games, it is something

          3  that we are going to hear the end of, or see the end

          4  of, or feel the end of.  And I did not know if there

          5  was any operation that you could think of that is

          6  creative that would address this issue.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Well

          8  we have in the past two of the issues that the

          9  Council has explored, developed outreach materials

         10  that were then used in a targeted way in

         11  neighborhoods, on payday loans and predatory

         12  lending.  And, you know, we certainly are receptive

         13  to thinking about that, particularly if we can do it

         14  in concert with other agencies that have the ability

         15  to, actually, reach out and touch a family.

         16                 With the earned income tax credit, we

         17  had a really great partnership amongst City

         18  agencies, and certainly, the Council is a partner in

         19  that as well.  One of our strategies for

         20  distributing educational materials was using

         21  agencies that had a large, client- based population.

         22    So we can look at something along those lines, we

         23  would, of course, have to look at funding.

         24                 And then we could look at how the

         25  existing Consumer Protection Law might apply to

                                                            36

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  videos, without, I mean we could examination that, I

          3  don't know where that would lead.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  That

          6  usually takes a lot longer, that would be the

          7  creative application of the law, based on the facts.

          8    But that might end up being a dead end.

          9                 But the promotional piece, we could

         10  come up with something creative, but we would have

         11  to rely also on you all to help distribute it.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  All right,

         13  thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, and I

         15  am going to encourage my colleagues to try to be

         16  brief with their questions of the Administration.

         17  We have the industry people who have been patient,

         18  as well as other advocates, so there will be ample

         19  time to ask them many questions.

         20                 I have questions from Council Members

         21  Sanders, Vallone, and Gioia.  Council Member

         22  Sanders.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  I think

         24  Vallone was ahead of me.   But my question, Mr.

         25  Chair, and thank you for this hearing.  I think that
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          2  I compliment all of the people who put in these

          3  resolutions.

          4                 My point to the good panelists is

          5  simply this, understanding that there is a problem,

          6  and all of us concede that there is a problem, I am

          7  a little bit befuddled why the Administration did

          8  not come in with what they believe would work in a

          9  situation like this.  To say that, what the Council

         10  people have come up with is impractical or cannot

         11  work for whatever reason, that is fine.  But if we

         12  all agree that there is a problem, then why not come

         13  in with a proposed solution.  I think it is good to

         14  agree with the Chair when you hear something good up

         15  here, but I am still trying to figure out why you

         16  guys did not come up with a proposed solution.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:

         18  Because Council Member you offered us some bills for

         19  consideration that deal with the Department's

         20  enforcement authority, and we looked at those bills,

         21  and they did not do what we would need to do in

         22  order to effectively enforce the law, and that is

         23  what we were offered.

         24                 We do believe, as I said in my

         25  testimony, that the prime line of defense here is
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          2  with parents, and parents doing a good job in

          3  helping their children have values so that they do

          4  not buy these games.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  I concede,

          6  Mr. Chair, a quick follow- up, I concede that the,

          7  in fact, I absolutely concede that the first line of

          8  defense is a parent, as it should be.  But I also

          9  say that, if you were looking at these bills, and

         10  these were not the bills, but you felt that you had

         11  some authority or some better solution, it would

         12  have been useful to put that solution up also, just

         13  an aside, I guess.

         14                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Well

         16  in response we think that there are very difficult

         17  First Amendment problems to solve when you deal with

         18  the content of the games on regulating where they

         19  are sold and to whom they are sold, and we do not

         20  have something that gets beyond that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

         22  Council Member Vallone.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you,

         24  Mr. Chair.  I have two daughters and we play Barbie

         25  Video Games together, and I was not even aware that
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          2  this filth existed for children.  Kicking women on

          3  the floor, killing Haitians, this is outrageous, and

          4  the purveyors of this filth to our kids are filth

          5  themselves.  I cannot wait for them to sit in that

          6  chair, right there, and talk to us, and answer our

          7  questions.

          8                 The problem here, however, is that

          9  what we are doing, and I think it is good work, and

         10  I commend you, Mr. Chair, and I commend the people

         11  who put these bills in, what we are doing is going

         12  to be shot down by the courts, and that is another

         13  thing that you are shedding light on by doing this

         14  today.  It is our liberal courts right now, who are

         15  consistently holding these games protected, as you

         16  just mentioned under the First Amendment, which I

         17  think is outrageous.  But the more that we can do to

         18  shed light on that, they fact that the courts are

         19  protecting this filth, I think that is a good thing,

         20  and that is why I am glad you are having this

         21  hearing.

         22                 And Ms. Toole, I have to disagree

         23  with Ms. Brewer about your good testimony.  This is

         24  now twice, in one day, you have come in here and

         25  said that the City Council bills are no good, we
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          2  should keep things the way they are, and offering no

          3  alternatives, and that is not helpful.  And I would

          4  hope that in the future you would come in with

          5  alternatives so that we can work together to solve

          6  these problems.

          7                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

          9  Council Member Gioia.              COUNCIL MEMBER

         10  GIOIA:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  And thank you for

         11  coming to testify.  While I agree with my colleagues

         12  criticism, I will not join in the chorus of

         13  criticizing you for not coming here with

         14  alternatives.  And I agree with you that a public

         15  information campaign is a good idea, and would have

         16  an effect on educating parents, and empowering them,

         17  and we have tried to do that.

         18                 But let me ask you this, will the

         19  Administration, and will the Mayor join us in

         20  criticizing the MTA for accepting advertisements for

         21  some of these M- rated games like Grand Theft Auto

         22  on the sides of buses and on the subways?  In other

         23  words, it seems that the Administration has not done

         24  anything to educate parents about the content of the

         25  games, but it actually educated consumers about the
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          2  availability of the games without, in other words,

          3  it is plastered along side, almost every bus I have

          4  seen driving around Manhattan, I have seen it on the

          5  subways.  I mean, would you join us in criticizing

          6  the MTA for taking these advertisements?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  I do

          8  not know what the Administration will do on that.

          9  The MTA is run separately, as you know, I am not

         10  sure what the position of the Administration is on

         11  that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  I know it is

         13  separate, if it were not separate, I would ask you

         14  not to do it.  But I am saying, in other words, if I

         15  thought the Administration had control of the MTA,

         16  my suggestion would be, do not take the advertising.

         17    But since you do not have control of the MTA, I

         18  guess, my question would be, will you join us in

         19  criticizing those who do control the MTA?  And if

         20  you do not have that answer, that is fine, but I

         21  would hope that you would just furnish it to the

         22  Committee - -

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Well

         24  let me just clarify, I am representing the City's

         25  Department of Consumer Affairs, which is one of many
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          2  departments in the City, so I can really only speak

          3  for the City's Department of Consumer Affairs. We

          4  will not be joining you in that criticism.  But

          5  whether or not the Administration as a whole will,

          6  that is a question that we will have to leave for

          7  another person to answer.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Thank you very

          9  much, and thank you for testifying today.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, all,

         11  very much.  I think that the message ought to be

         12  clear that we are looking forward to working with

         13  the Administration on any ideas that you might have

         14  in terms of trying to get word out to parents, to

         15  find some legislative remedy to this conundrum of

         16  how you balance the First Amendment with what

         17  everybody seems to feel is abhorrent visual display

         18  that are inappropriate for children.  It is pretty

         19  simple.

         20                 It is a little disingenuous in your

         21  testimony to talk about hearing authority, and

         22  because we do not have that, we cannot have a bill.

         23  We have a lot of bills that you do not have hearing

         24  authority.  I do not seeing you coming to the

         25  Council, particularly this Chair, and we have talked
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          2  about hearing and docketing authority for many years

          3  now, but I do not hear you saying to me, well, Mr.

          4  Chair, you might as well just take all those bills

          5  off the books, because we do not have hearing

          6  authority.  So let's not do that dance, let's find

          7  something we can dance together, and see if we

          8  cannot find a way, even if it is in a chorus to ask

          9  the parents, you know, vis- a- vis, any public

         10  service, do you know, are you watching what your

         11  kids are watching. Some method of addressing what

         12  seems, in my mind, to be a problem that is worth

         13  addressing.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  I

         15  would be happy to be in that chorus with you, Mr.

         16  Chair.  On hearing authority, our goal is not to be

         17  disingenuous, but to be pretty care that when we do

         18  have hearing authority over a violation, we can hold

         19  the violator accountable more quickly, more

         20  efficiently.  And were the Council to move forward

         21  on this legislation, we would ask that you do

         22  include hearing authority so that we would be able

         23  to be effective should it pass judicial muster, not

         24  hearing authority, but the rest of the legislation.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well you know the
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          2  ice is so thin on that subject, that I think the

          3  best thing for me to do, is to keep you off of it.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  It is

          5  springtime, that is good.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So we will not go

          7  down that road today.  So I want to thank you for

          8  your testimony.

          9                 So before we move onto the next

         10  round, we are running late, we are going to have

         11  more than one hearing.  I am sorry, Council Member

         12  Clarke, you had a question, I am sorry, thank you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Thank you,

         14  Commissioner, thank you, Mr. Chair.  With respect to

         15  the video game," Vice City Grand Theft Auto," I was

         16  wondering whether it would be within the purview of

         17  Consumer Affairs to look into whether they are in

         18  violation of hate crimes legislation that we have

         19  here in the State.  I mean, there is no doubt in my

         20  mind that any game that compels a group to be

         21  killed, essentially, should raise some flags in this

         22  State, particularly, where we have such a strict,

         23  hate crimes law.  Has anyone from your perspective

         24  looked at that?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  We did
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          2  not at the Department,  but it certainly is

          3  something to be considered.  That is not a law that

          4  we are been given the authority to enforce.  But it

          5  is well worth someone exploring that, I think you

          6  are right.  It is probably the DA, and certainly,

          7  also the Commissioner on Human Rights could maybe

          8  look into it, to the issue.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Thank you,

         10  Mr. Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  We have been

         12  joined by Council Member Charles Barron, who is a

         13  member of this Committee, and has asked to be able

         14  to ask a very brief question.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Chairman, I

         16  just noticed that you mentioned brief when it was my

         17  turn.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well I have been

         19  mentioning it pretty consistently, but I am going to

         20  start using this gavel to enforce it.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Yes, Sir.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  You know I

         24  respect you highly.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yes, and we are
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          2  glad that you are here, Charles.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Thank you.  I

          4  just had one concern.  Very rarely do I agree with

          5  my Council Member Vallone here, but I happen to

          6  agree with him on this one, that it would be better

          7  for this Council, and just to reiterate, and you do

          8  not even have to respond, that you do come with some

          9  constructive ways of enforcing some of the

         10  resolutions that, you know, we are thinking about

         11  and ideas, as opposed to just having the blanket,

         12  you know, parents should tell their children not to

         13  buy it.  Because that is not what our role is, not

         14  here, for that.  We can do that, but we are here to

         15  protect, we are here to put legislation in place, we

         16  are here to enforce things.  So parents is one

         17  thing, but there is another responsibility that we

         18  have, and I think it would be better if you joined

         19  us with that, and I think than some of the responses

         20  that I have heard in my brief stay here.

         21                 That is all, Mr. Chair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  I

         24  regret to say, this is a particularly difficult

         25  topic because it is a topic that the courts have
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          2  addressed, as Council Member Vallone pointed out,

          3  and there are First Amendment issues that, you know,

          4  wish that I was smart enough to get around it, I am

          5  not.  We can only give you our best knowledge on

          6  this topic.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

          8  much.  We are having people in support of the

          9  legislation next, advocates, and then we will hear

         10  from the industry.  So I would like to ask to come

         11  up to the witness table, Pamela Eakes, I believe is

         12  how you say it, Patricia DiLieto, Daphne White, and

         13  Fred Fabien, please, if you would all come, yes,

         14  thank you.  And if you have things to distribute to

         15  the Council, the Sergeant- At- Arms will take it.

         16  If you do not have your testimony in written form,

         17  do not be concerned.  And we are going to hold each

         18  witness to a three- minute time limit.  Briefer is

         19  better, because I am sure my colleagues will have

         20  some questions.  And, thank you, if you will let the

         21  Sergeant- At- Arms do that, just so I know, who is

         22  Ms. Eakes?  That is you, okay, thank you.  And Ms.

         23  DiLieto, okay, and then I guess, that is Ms. White,

         24  okay.  Mr. Fabien, thank you.

         25                 Why don't you start, Ms. Eakes, but
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          2  while we are doing that, if we could get, Sergeant,

          3  another chair, is that possible, so that he could

          4  sit, Mr. Fabien could sit at the table, in case

          5  there is some cross questioning.

          6                 Thank you, Ms. Eakes.

          7                 MS. EAKES:  My name is Pamela Eakes,

          8  and I am foundering President of Mothers Against

          9  Violence in America, a national organization

         10  dedicated to the prevention of violence buying

         11  against children through education, outreach, and

         12  advocacy, founded in 1994, and headquarter in

         13  Seattle, Washington.

         14                 I am here today to salute you for

         15  your leadership in the effort that you are

         16  undertaking to advance the calls of children, which

         17  is what we are here, we, in America, and here in New

         18  York, are all about, especially at this hearing.

         19                 I wanted to share with you our

         20  history in this area as briefly as possible.  After

         21  our founding, we began to look into the pop culture,

         22  and particularly violent video games, as you know,

         23  two of the platform manufacturers are located in

         24  Seattle, Washington, and we have enjoyed a good

         25  rapport with those manufacturers along the trail.
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          2  But we began to work with the Washington Retailers

          3  Association in 1996, 1997, and particularly in 1999,

          4  we came to an agreement that the Retailers

          5  Association would advance the voluntary effort of

          6  asking for identification before the sale of M-

          7  rated games, that is 1999.

          8                 This took us to the White House, and

          9  we had a high level of participation in the White

         10  House, and now it is one of the FCC study regarding

         11  the marketing of video games to children.

         12                 After that, in 1999, in 2000, in

         13  2001, we did not receive the guaranteed agreement

         14  that they would voluntarily ask for identification.

         15  Mothers Against Violence in America conducted very

         16  esteemed efforts to better understand if we were on

         17  the right trail, and we discovered that we were not.

         18    So we offered State legislation in 2001, and then

         19  they offered again, know this time we promised that

         20  we will voluntarily be aggressive in asking for

         21  identification, by the members of our Association.

         22                 We conducted more stings, it did not

         23  happen.  At the same levels that you have had in

         24  terms of 80, 90 percent of retailers not asking.  I

         25  have to acknowledge that KB Toys did ask, and it was
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          2  their national standard to do so.  But in 2003, we

          3  had no other choice, we passed a bill in the House

          4  and in the Senate, signed by the Governor that

          5  requires retailers to ask for identification similar

          6  to what you are trying to pass.  It passed

          7  overwhelming.

          8                 The industry has sued the State of

          9  Washington, and now it is in the courts, and it is

         10  pending.  It lieu of this effort we felt it was

         11  imperative to launch a campaign to educate parents,

         12  and we have launched a campaign, it is called, "A

         13  Campaign for a Game Smart Community," we invite New

         14  York City to become a "Game Smart Community," for

         15  the parents of New York to become "Game Smart

         16  Parents," for retailers to become "Game Smart

         17  Retailers," for elected officials and business

         18  leaders to become "Game Smart."  And that is we have

         19  a tool, we have several tools from public service

         20  announcements to a video, in which we have through

         21  the grassroots networks of PTAs and YMCAs and other

         22  parent groups and libraries, make available an

         23  eight- minute video so parents can really see the

         24  content of the games.  And when they see the

         25  content, not written identification of what gore and
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          2  violence is, because they based their decisions on

          3  their own experience, when they see the content,

          4  they make informed choices.  And informed choices

          5  mean some of the things that you have mentioned

          6  earlier, is that they are shocked, stunned, and

          7  believe that they have these games right in their

          8  own home, they take inventory, or they throw them

          9  away or they make better parent decisions.

         10                 We feel that the pressure that you

         11  are applying, we are here as a national organization

         12  to support your efforts, to do whatever we can do as

         13  a national organization to continue your efforts.

         14  And I appreciate the opportunity to testify before

         15  this important Committee.  Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         17  much.  Ms. DiLieto.

         18                 MS. DILIETO:  Good afternoon, I am

         19  Patient DiLieto, Vice- President of NOW, NYC.

         20                 First, we would like to commend the

         21  Council and Council Members Brewer, Clarke, and

         22  Gioia, for taking the lead on this issue.  Young

         23  children are playing games in which women and

         24  minorities are shot, urinated upon, and set on fire.

         25    You just saw and excerpt from Grand Theft Auto,
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          2  where players are rewarded for having sex with a

          3  prostitute and beating her to death to get their

          4  money back.  The beating includes repeated kicks to

          5  her genital.

          6                 The game industry would have us

          7  believe that these increasingly, interactive, and

          8  realistic games, do not encourage violence.  There

          9  is much indication to the contrary, (see the

         10  attached NOW fact sheet for any details.)

         11                 Although, the industry aggressively

         12  markets and sells M- rated games to youngsters, it

         13  asserts that parents are most responsible for

         14  controlling access to these games.  Certainly,

         15  parents share responsibility.  However, in part,

         16  they need to be better educated.  Last December,

         17  NOW- NYC gave out informational flyers and spoke to

         18  parents.  They were shocked by the extreme violence,

         19  sexism, and racism contained in some games.  And,

         20  often, parental efforts to pre- screen games are

         21  thwarted because they lack skills necessary to

         22  advance in higher, more violent game levels.

         23  Ultimately, parents cannot completely control access

         24  to violent games.  Many worry that their children

         25  are playing these games at a friend's house or
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          2  elsewhere.

          3                 I would like to comment on the intros

          4  and the resolutions.  NOW strongly supports Intro.

          5  18, which would prohibit sales for mature- rated

          6  games to children under 17.  Minors have long been

          7  treated as a protected class, they cannot purchase

          8  guns, porn magazines, alcohol, or cigarettes.  This

          9  bill is consistent with other measures to protect

         10  children.  Excuse me.  Thank you. We believe the

         11  bill will be a major step toward keeping the most

         12  violent games out of the reach of New York City

         13  children.

         14                 NOW- NYC supports Intro. 60's posting

         15  requirements. However, since boys, as young as

         16  eight, are known to prefer M- rated games, we are

         17  concerned separate displays might make it easier for

         18  young boys to find them.  The Council might consider

         19  requiring M rated games be placed on shelf set at a

         20  certain minimum height.  A recent California

         21  proposal specifies five feet.

         22                 NOW strongly endorses the resolutions

         23  before us today.

         24                 Finally, we ask that the Council

         25  consider adopting Resolution denouncing the game
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          2  industry for promoting violence and sexism.  In its

          3   "Video Game Report Card," the National Institute on

          4  Media and the Family concluded that the most popular

          5  video games reflect violent and misogynist attitude

          6  toward girls and women, and treat them as sexual

          7  playthings.  We would be happy to work with the

          8  Council on this resolution.

          9                 NOW- NYC has an active campaign to

         10  end violence against women.  We have viewed the

         11  legislation before us today as one component of that

         12  campaign.

         13                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         14  address this issue.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         16  much.  Ms. White.

         17                 MS. WHITE:  Thank you, Sir.  My name

         18  is Daphne White, and I am Executive Director of the

         19  Lion and Lamb Project. I was to thank this Committee

         20  for holding this hearing, and for, I can tell you

         21  are really serious about it, and I appreciate that.

         22  I am here to support both Intro. 18 and Intro. 60.

         23  I believe the bills are complementary and they are

         24  both neither.  We do not sell cigarettes to

         25  children, we do not sell alcohol to children, we do
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          2  not sell pornography to children.  In addition, we

          3  do not expect the parents to be there at the retail

          4  outlet making sure these products are not sold to

          5  children.  We do not say that it is up to parents to

          6  prevent cigarettes or alcohol from being marketed to

          7  children.  We have laws about that.  This issue is a

          8  public health issue is a public health issue just

          9  like pornography and cigarettes and should be

         10  treated the same way.

         11                 Intro. 60 is a similar thing, we have

         12  cigarettes behind a counter, we have pornography in

         13  separate sections, or behind paper bags.  Alcohol

         14  you have to show an ID, again, it is not up to the

         15  parents to follow their teenage children around and

         16  make sure they do not get it.  I don't see any First

         17  Amendment problems where restricting the sale of

         18  adult materials to adults.

         19                 By the way, when I say pornography, I

         20  do not say it lightly.  I was invited a couple of

         21  weeks ago to speak before the National Academy of

         22  Sciences in Washington, D.C.  I was going to show a

         23  videotape with some of the same scenes you showed

         24  here today.  They told me the morning of the

         25  hearing, they would not let me show that videotape
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          2  at the National Academy of Sciences because it was

          3  pornographic.  They deemed it pornographic and they

          4  said that they have a zero tolerance policy for

          5  pornography at the National Academy of Sciences.

          6                 And Marjorie Heins was here today,

          7  was also on the panel that I was on, she saw it

          8  happen, and as I asked her today, she did not get to

          9  answer my question, she did not stand up for my

         10  First Amendment Right to show that tape, my rights

         11  were violated, and my First Amendment panel was

         12  quiet, my First Amendment Rights were violated.

         13                 I am a former journalist, the First

         14  Amendment is very important to me.  But I think here

         15  it is being used inappropriately, it is being used

         16  to market adult stuff to kids.

         17                 I want to, again, say that every

         18  single public health organization, education

         19  organization, has a policy about the affect of these

         20  games on children.  They are not games, they are

         21  serious business, it is about business, it is about

         22  money.

         23                 I have passed out fact sheets with

         24  the research, there is a lot of it in our web site.

         25  I would like to say though, one thing that I very
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          2  recently learned that may not be in the handouts

          3  that I gave you, which is, they are doing MRI

          4  research on children now, they are doing brains on

          5  teens.  Because we tend to think, well we can

          6  protect 8- year- olds, but teens can handle it. It

          7  turns out that the teenage brain is developing as

          8  fast as a 2 year- old brain.  And the prefrontal

          9  cortex where impulses are, are not fully formed in

         10  teenagers, in fact, they are not fully formed until

         11  their late twenties, early thirties.

         12                 The memories that are stored when

         13  children play these games repeatedly where they beat

         14  women, they beat black people, they beat Haitians,

         15  they beat anyone, the memories are stored in the

         16  same part of the brain where post- traumatic stress

         17  disorder is stored.  It is stored in the same place

         18  where rape is stored.  So while kids say it is make

         19  believe, while the industry will tell you it is make

         20  believe, while the First Amendment people will tell

         21  you it is just a story, we do not need to protect

         22  children, they brain is treating this as a real

         23  event.  And you can look up on our web site and

         24  elsewhere some of that MRI research. This is really,

         25  really serious.
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          2                 I agree with, I think it was

          3  Councilman Reed, who said we are here to protect

          4  children, or I don't know, it was perhaps you,

          5  Council Member Barron, thank you.

          6                 This is really serious, it is about

          7  protecting our kids.  I am here as a mother, and I

          8  strongly urge you.  I understand the

          9  Administration's concerns.  I also think the rating

         10  system is faulty, so I do not think it is really, if

         11  you do, do PSAs, I hope you do not just say, oh,

         12  follow the rating system, because it is very faulty.

         13    But I am happy to work with you on other systems.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         16  much for your testimony.  And I think it is safe to

         17  say that all the Council members, certainly on this

         18  panel, want to protect children.

         19                 Mr. Fabien.

         20                 MR. FABIEN:  Good afternoon, Chairman

         21  Reed, City Council, and the Committee of Consumer

         22  Affairs.  I would also like to thank Council Members

         23  Gioia, Brewer, and especially Yvette Clarke, for

         24  working with us, and the ESRB, who I believe are

         25  trying to make a sincere effort to work with us to
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          2  arrive at legislation that makes sense.  And I think

          3  that is why we are here today, to arrive at

          4  something that makes sense.

          5                 My name is Fred Fabien, and I am here

          6  on behalf of the Haitian- American community.  Last

          7  October, we were made aware of "Grand Theft Auto

          8  Vice City" through an investigative report from

          9  Channel 2 News.  And since then we have been very

         10  proactive, and we have been concerned citizens

         11  against violent video games, and we are in support

         12  of all the introductions and resolutions that we are

         13  hearing today.

         14                 I have a statement on behalf of the

         15  Haitian Community.

         16                 We, the Haitian Community of New

         17  York, denounce our erroneous portrayal in Rock Star

         18  Games, Inc's, "Grand Theft Auto Vice City," video

         19  games as thugs, thieves, and drug dealers.  Vice

         20  City is a violent and racist video game that

         21  displaces blatant disregard for the rights of our

         22  community, and dishonors the contributions that we

         23  have made to the New York community and to our

         24  nation.

         25                 We are outraged that a company that

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  operates in the City of New York, or any city in the

          3  United States has the liberty to disrespect the

          4  heritage of any ethnic group.  We are asking for the

          5  support of the City Council and other governing

          6  agencies to pass legislation to prohibit and limit

          7  the sales of all sexually explicit, excessively

          8  violent, and racially irresponsible, video games.

          9                 We as a community have a challenge.

         10  We know that the contents of interactive video games

         11  defy the moral values that define and represents the

         12  standards of a civilized society.  We must not allow

         13  politics, economics, and legislative bureaucracies

         14  to keep us from doing what is right.  At the end of

         15  the day, our concern is with doing what is right.

         16  We must find a solution to this problem.

         17                 The community looks towards the City

         18  Council, and we will support you in all legislative

         19  matters, and provide you with any support that you

         20  could, that you would need, and the effort to come

         21  at a resolution that will make sense for the ESRB,

         22  the video game industry, the community, and all the

         23  government agencies involved so that we can come

         24  about and find a legislation that makes sense.  And

         25  that is what we are all about, a legislation that
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          2  makes sense.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

          5  much.  Again, we are, for the sake of time, trying

          6  to move forward, but I know several questions have

          7  come up in the testimony, I have.  So if Council

          8  members have some questions, I would like them to be

          9  succinct, and all into two, at least, in this first

         10  round.

         11                 Ms. Eakes, I appreciated your opening

         12  comment, when you said you had a "Game Smart

         13  Campaign."

         14                 MS. EAKES:  We do.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  We would be happy

         16  if you would share that information, the pamphlets,

         17  and the ideas.  Is there someone from the

         18  Administration still here?  I beg your pardon, is

         19  there anyone representing the Administration?  I am

         20  asking, but they are not here representing the

         21  Administration.  Well we will share the information

         22  that you share with us.  I am somewhat disappointed,

         23  but we will make sure that that information gets to

         24  them, that is terrific.

         25                 MS. EAKES:  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

          3  much.

          4                 MS. EAKES:  You know, I am sorry that

          5  we have do that, because I wish that the legislation

          6  would not be challenged. I wish that we could

          7  totally prevent children from getting these games

          8  into their hands.  But we have to find alternative

          9  methods to educate parents and restrict children in

         10  any way we can, we are going to have to do it

         11  together.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And Ms., now who

         13  asked that, I think it was DeLieto, who made the

         14  comment that we ban pornography, or we are able to,

         15  was that you, Ms. White, I am sorry.  So I am

         16  curious, I mean, the point that you were making

         17  about smoking and liquor, but specifically

         18  pornography now.  Is pornography not covered under

         19  the First Amendment?

         20                 MS. WHITE:  There are special, I

         21  mean, pornography has had Supreme Court cases, and I

         22  think the Supreme Court said, we know it when we see

         23  it.  And I think you knew it, when you saw it, I

         24  mean, it is vague.  But, children are, I mean, there

         25  are restrictions about pornography where it can be
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          2  shown, when it can be shown, and especially

          3  protecting children.  And the same with advertising

          4  cigarettes to children.

          5                 You know somebody brought up before

          6  the MTA and advertising on buses.  You know there

          7  has been a lot of legislation about not advertising

          8  cigarettes or alcohol in places where kids see it.

          9  And this is a lot of debate about where these things

         10  are being advertised right now.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  I was,

         12  you have to learn, as a Chair, to be able to hear

         13  three things simultaneously. But thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 I was asking Council Member Gioia, is

         16  there any empirical evidence, such as anecdotal, is

         17  this issue overwhelmingly with young boys, or are

         18  girls buying some of these videos as well, or the

         19  girls do not play videos as much as the boys do?

         20                 MS. DILIETO:  Well I think the

         21  industry might ease the water a lot, they will say

         22  that the girls and women play as much as men, and

         23  they are going to tell you that most players are

         24  over age 28.  But they include anyone who plays

         25  solitaire on their computer, or anyone who plays a
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          2  video game on the cell phone is called a video game

          3  player.  So if you do that, there are lots of women

          4  including my 70- year- old mother from Queens, who

          5  plays Bridge on AOL but she cannot get on AOL, she

          6  does not know from email. My father puts her on it,

          7  she plays Bridge.  She is considered a game player.

          8                 So the research shows that girls tend

          9  not to like the ultraviolet games.  You can imagine

         10  most girls are not going to enjoy pornography, they

         11  are not going to enjoy beating, their brains work

         12  differently.  So, yes, girls play, but they tend to

         13  play Barbie, and they will play different kinds of

         14  the things, but the affect on the brain is the same,

         15  and we are marketing it the same.  And

         16  unfortunately, instead of making more nurturing kind

         17  of games for boys, another things that kids are not

         18  being taught is empathy and compassion.  I mean

         19  these games destroy empathy and compassion, there is

         20  a lot of research about that.  Instead of teaching

         21  them more, of what is called feminine aspects to

         22  boys, we are taking girls and telling them it is

         23  good to be more violent and more aggressive, you

         24  know, be more like boys go beat somebody up. So you

         25  know, there is like the kind of two rate of
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          2  characters, where women are "empowered" to be

          3  violent in these very sexy and violent female

          4  character, that is supposed to be progress.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well thank you, we

          6  might want to enlist your mom to be in one of our

          7  PSAs.

          8                 MS. DILIETO:  She would be honored.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  At the video

         10  thing, so that would be terrific.  Thank you all.

         11  Yes, Ms. Eakes.

         12                 MS. EAKES:  I just would like to add

         13  one more dimension.  So much has been mentioned in

         14  research, and so I have not, intentionally,

         15  replicated any information that I knew that everyone

         16  said.  But I do think it is important that as you

         17  draw parallel lines between the movie industry and

         18  its rating, and the video game industry and its

         19  rating system, that it is a much more complicated

         20  issue that you are attacking in terms of the

         21  retailers and porn purchase and distribution,

         22  because it is a bigger industry, as Council Member

         23  Gioia had mentioned earlier, it is a $20 billion

         24  international sales level.  And so it is complicated

         25  versus movie theaters.  We can name the 20 movies
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          2  that are out, there are hundreds of games, and there

          3  are hundreds and thousands and thousands of retail

          4  establishments that need to be attended to.

          5                 So it is a more complicated issue

          6  when you are trying to keep these sorts of games

          7  away from children.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Council Member

          9  Barron has a question.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  I just wanted

         11  to ask more about the cerebral cortex and the

         12  development.  What age in teenagers solidified or

         13  still in its very developmental stages?

         14                 MS. WHITE:  Well what I am learning

         15  is, and it is actually a book called, "The Primal

         16  Teen," and I mentioned the author in my testimony.

         17  She actually was a sign setter of the New York

         18  Times, who wrote the book.  According to her and

         19  other research I have read, it is not until the

         20  early thirties, I only learned this in the past

         21  couple, I was surprised.  Because we do think of

         22  teenagers, when I started out, I said, we have to

         23  protect 8- year- olds, 12- year- olds, you know that

         24  is when they learn the difference between fantasy

         25  and reality, teenagers, you know I am not so
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          2  worried.

          3                 You know how teens are impulsive,

          4  there is a lot of hormones going on, there is a lot

          5  of growth, I mean, they are physically growing, they

          6  are sexually growing, so it is a fertile and a very

          7  unsettled time in the brain, the teen years.  And

          8  the prefrontal cortex and the impulse control does

          9  not really settle until their thirties, you know,

         10  finally.  But the teens, as you know, it is a very -

         11   -  Anybody, I am a parent of a 16- year- old, and

         12  he likes to joke with me, "Mom, you know, my neurons

         13  are firing."  I mean, it is kind of a joke in our

         14  house, teens are impulsive, and get angry quickly,

         15  and that is dangerous when you are feeding them a

         16  diet ever since they are two and three years old

         17  with TV and action figures and the movies and the

         18  gameboys.  I mean, the violence escalates, and we

         19  desensitize them in a way that no generation has

         20  ever been desensitized to violence.

         21                 I mean, we watched with shock, what

         22  is really sad is that 8- year- olds play this, and

         23  they think it is nothing.  But their brain is

         24  processing it as something, you see, that is what is

         25  dangerous.  They are desensitized, they are telling
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          2  us it is okay. If we take a lot of this in, in TV,

          3  the movies, and the culture, we think it is nothing.

          4    But in our brain pathways, especially in children

          5  and teen brains pathways are being formed.

          6                 If I could make one other point, the

          7  industry is going to tell you that most games are

          8  bought by adults, they cost $50, it is all about

          9  adults.  If it is really about adults, I would hope

         10  you would ask the industry, why are they fighting

         11  this legislation so much, if it is really, if adults

         12  really buy 80 or 90 percent of these games?  If

         13  adults are playing 80, 90 percent of these games,

         14  why are they so concerned about the 10 percent of

         15  kids?  And the reason is, because it is not really

         16  10 percent, teens are a huge part of this audience,

         17  and they know it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Let me just ask

         19  you one last, quick question.  The prefrontal

         20  cortex, is there any empirical evidence that leads

         21  to behavior that they can connect to something

         22  stored in their brain?

         23                 MS. WHITE:  Well the storage is

         24  actually, I am not a neuro scientist, I am not any

         25  kind of Ph.D., I am a former journalist and a mom,
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          2  and someone who cares.  But my understanding is that

          3  the memories are stored, I think in the back of the

          4  brain. The prefrontal cortex is where the impulse

          5  is.  But if you read her book, or go to some of the

          6  research on our web site, - -

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Okay.

          8                 MS. WHITE:  There is a lot of stuff

          9  out there, although I am not an expert,

         10  unfortunately, in brain research.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Thank you

         12  very much to the brother from the Haitian Community,

         13  we are supporting you 100 percent that video game

         14  was absurd.

         15                 MR. FABIEN:  Thank you, I appreciate

         16  that, Councilman Barron.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you all

         18  again.  I would also urge you that your

         19  constituencies that you are working with, that you

         20  ask them whenever they see the Mayor or others of

         21  the Administration to let them know that we would

         22  like to see them stepping up, along with the

         23  Council, to change what the situation is here in New

         24  York.  Thank you very much.

         25                 Next we would like have join us at
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          2  the witness table, Marie Sylla, is that it, with

          3  Interactive Entertainment Merchants Association, and

          4  Patricia Vance who is with the Entertainment

          5  Software Ratings Board, and is it Gail Markels, yes,

          6  thank you, and that is Entertainment Software

          7  Association, and Tom Zapf, Tom.  Did I get part of

          8  it right, Tom?  MRA New York, Metro Retail

          9  Association, you are with Cantor Davidoff, but you

         10  are representing your client.  Is that it?  Okay, so

         11  you will identify yourself for the record, okay.

         12  Thank you, just one moment.

         13                 Thank you all, and we do not tend to

         14  swear our witnesses in, as other Committees do, but

         15  we would expect you to be truthful in the testimony.

         16    Ms. Sylla, do you want to begin?  You have to

         17  start by identifying yourself, please, for the

         18  record.  If you push that button and the light goes

         19  off, then the microphone is on.

         20                 MS. SYLLA:  Okay.  Good afternoon,

         21  Mr. Chairman. Good afternoon, members of the

         22  Committee.  First of all, my name is Marie Sylla,

         23  and I represent the IEMA, which stands for the

         24  Interactive Entertainment Merchants Association.

         25  Our member companies are the leading retailers of
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          2  the video game products in North America.  We count

          3  for almost 90 percent of video games sold in the US.

          4                 On behalf of the IEMA and the

          5  retailers we represent in New York City, we

          6  respectfully oppose Intro. 18 and Intro. 60, because

          7  the industry has created a comprehensive rating

          8  system, which we, as a sector, are committed to

          9  enforcing and promoting. Additionally, these bills

         10  would cause operational problems, which would burn

         11  retailers.  Moreover, these pieces of legislation

         12  would pose serious Constitutional issues under the

         13  First Amendment in New York Law.

         14                 Having said that, we understand and

         15  appreciate the concerns of the Committee, regarding

         16  enforcement of the ESRB Rating System.  And that is

         17  why we have, within the last several months, taken

         18  some important and tangible, proactive steps toward

         19  the enforcement and promotion of the rating system

         20  at the store level.

         21                 IEMA retailers are strongly committed

         22  to voluntarily enforcing the rating system and the

         23  sale of mature- rated games.  I am proud to announce

         24  that this past December, the IEMA announced that all

         25  of our members are committed to adopting and
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          2  implementing a carding program in their store.

          3  Therefore, all IEMA retailers who have not yet done

          4  so, will institute an identification checking

          5  process at the point of sale for games rated M by

          6  the ESRB.

          7                 The National Institute on Media and

          8  the Families, which issued its annual "Video Game

          9  Report Card" this past holiday season found a

         10  distinct difference between retailers with policies

         11  versus those without.  The study revealed that

         12  minors were successful at purchasing M- rated games

         13  100 percent of the time in stores without policies.

         14  While children were only, minors were only

         15  successful 30 percent of the time in stores who did

         16  have policies.  These statistics have proved that in

         17  store policies do work.

         18                 In addition to implementing the first

         19  comprehensive Entertainment Carding Program for the

         20  sale of M- rated games, our member companies have

         21  partnered with the ESRB to improve in store

         22  education of the rating system by updating and

         23  increasing signage on the store floor, and yet,

         24  raising the minimum bar again.  These consumer

         25  educational efforts include various in store
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          2  displays in merchandising materials, explaining the

          3  ESRB rating system.

          4                 Since 92 percent of all games are

          5  purchased by adults, we believe the key to stopping

          6  mature- rated games from getting into the hands of

          7  minors is through parental empowerment, by educating

          8  parents and consumer about the rating system.  It is

          9  our belief that America's parents are our first and

         10  last line of defense for our children, and only they

         11  can make the determination regarding what types of

         12  entertainment products are appropriate for their

         13  children.  Our role is to make sure that parents are

         14  provided with the essential tools necessary to make

         15  an informed decision about the appropriateness of a

         16  video game for their child.

         17                 IEMA retailers have sacrificed

         18  valuable advertising and marketing space, and

         19  invested part of their yearly budget to ensure that

         20  educational materials are prominently displayed to

         21  consumers in their stores.  Moreover, several of our

         22  retailers have taken additional steps by using other

         23  channels to promote the rating system, which include

         24  rating information in their advertisements, in store

         25  merchandising, and posting the rating system on
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          2  their web site.

          3                 Another added tangible measure is

          4  that many of our retailers are proactively making

          5  efforts to educate their sale clerks on the rating

          6  system by incorporating the ESRB system into their

          7  sale associate training and national manager

          8  conferences, and they are better educating staff

          9  about the rating.

         10                 I encourage legislators and other

         11  organizations to work in conjunction with us, not

         12  against us, in combating this problem.

         13                 The segregation requirement of Intro.

         14  60 would cause serious problem, operational problems

         15  for retailers.  Most retailers separate by platform

         16  and genre for the convenience of their customers.

         17  Because many of our member companies are large,

         18  store chains with departments that sell many other

         19  entertainment products, the task of segregating

         20  video games would not only be challenging, but would

         21  interfere in the stores merchandising strategies and

         22  finances, placing an undue burden upon our member

         23  companies.

         24                 In conclusion, it is our belief that

         25  tangible and impressive progress is being made
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          2  through voluntary cooperation between the IEMA and

          3  the ESRB with regard to stemming the sale of violent

          4  games to minors.  In conjunction with parallel

          5  organizations and agencies of the federal

          6  government, efforts have been undertaken to make

          7  further improvements and investments toward that

          8  end.

          9                 Legislation will not motivate

         10  retailers to work toward a goal to which they are

         11  all ready committed, and will not replace the

         12  ultimate role of parents in the duties of raising

         13  their children.  What legislation will do is

         14  negatively impact New York retailers, particularly

         15  small retailers whose livelihood depends on

         16  interactive game sales.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         19  much.  We are going to hear from all the witnesses

         20  before we take questions.  Ms. Vance.

         21                 MS. VANCE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         22  Good afternoon, my name is Patricia Vance, and I am

         23  the President of the Entertainment Rating Software

         24  Board, as well as the proud mother of two.  I want

         25  to thank you for providing the opportunity to
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          2  testify against the proposed Introductions # 18 and

          3  # 60.

          4                 ESRB's mission is to provide parents

          5  and consumers with the information they need to make

          6  informed computer and video game purchase decisions.

          7    Since time is limited this afternoon, I want to

          8  address three critical activities of our

          9  organization.

         10                 First is the ESRB Rating System,

         11  which is composed of two parts, a rating symbol, as

         12  you saw earlier for age appropriateness, and content

         13  descriptors indicating elements in a game that has

         14  triggered a particular rating or may be of interest

         15  or concern.  The rating symbols are on the front of

         16  the box, content descriptors are on the back.  The

         17  rating symbols which include EC for Early Childhood,

         18  E for Everyone, T for Teen, M for Mature, and AO for

         19  Adults Only.  We have over 31 content descriptors,

         20  over 30 content descriptors, as well.

         21                 Second, the ESRB's Advertising Review

         22  Council is responsible for the oversight and

         23  enforcement of the game industry's principles and

         24  guidelines for responsible, marketing practices,

         25  which include making sure that game ads are

                                                            77

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  appropriately targeted.  In other words, publishers

          3  cannot advertise mature- rated games and television

          4  programming with 35 percent or more of its viewers

          5  under 17 years of age, or in print publications with

          6  45 percent or more of its readers under 17.

          7                 Third, as a part of the ESRB's

          8  mission to ensure that consumers are making informed

          9  purchase decisions, last fall, we launched a multi-

         10  channel consumer marketing campaign featuring the

         11  slogan, "Okay to play."  One important component of

         12  the campaign is a series of public service

         13  announcements that reached almost 90 million

         14  consumers during the past six months, appearing in a

         15  number of high circulation of magazines such as

         16  Entertainment Weekly, TV Guide, and many others, as

         17  well as TV outlets around the country, as well as in

         18  this fine City.

         19                 Another key component of the Campaign

         20  is the new customized partnership program with

         21  retailers to make sure that rating's awareness

         22  messages and store policy signs are prominently

         23  displayed at the point of purchase.  I have some

         24  Show N Tell, these signs are appearing in major

         25  chains around the country, 12 of the top 14 - -
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Maybe the

          3  Sergeant- At- Arms could help them and have that

          4  passed over here.

          5                 MS. VANCE:  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

          7                 MS. VANCE:  Twelve of the top 14

          8  retailers of computer and video games in the United

          9  States, representing 85 percent of total sales

         10  volume have committed to this program. Eight of

         11  those 12 retailers have already shift - -

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I am sorry, could

         13  you just back up and, because I was distracted, what

         14  are the statistics again?

         15                 MS. VANCE:  Twelve of the top 14

         16  retailers of computer and video games in the United

         17  States have committed to this program.  Eight of

         18  those 12 retailers have all ready shift and

         19  installed new display signage in their stores, and

         20  the remaining four will be doing so in the coming

         21  months.

         22                 We also have recently begun

         23  developing and implementing a similar program for

         24  smaller, independent retailers taking into account

         25  their distinct needs.  In fact, we propose to work
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          2  with several of the New York City Council members to

          3  implement this program working with grassroots

          4  organizations and retailers in their districts.

          5                 While we understand the Council's

          6  concern about children having access to games that

          7  are inappropriate, industry research has shown that

          8  parents are involved in the purchase of games 92

          9  percent of the time.  This fact is supported by the

         10  FTC's own research, which found that adults are

         11  involved in the purchase or rental of games 83

         12  percent of the time.  This data underscores the

         13  importance of reaching out to parents and other

         14  caregivers as the top priority in increasing the

         15  chances that appropriate games end up in the hands

         16  of our children.  With the continued help of

         17  retailers, media partners, IEMA, VSDA, and other

         18  organizations, we can make a difference.

         19                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         20  speak to you today about our efforts and activities.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  Ms.

         22  Markels.

         23                 MS. MARKELS:  Yes, thank you.  Good

         24  afternoon.  My name is Gail Markels, and I am

         25  General Counsel to the Entertainment Software
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          2  Association, a trade association representing US

          3  Space Companies that publish video games for the

          4  home.  ESA members include companies, such as

          5  Electronic Arts, Disney, Microsoft, THQ, and

          6  Activision, some of whom have facilities in New York

          7  City.

          8                 I would like to thank you for the

          9  opportunity to appear before you today.  The ESA

         10  opposes Intros. #18 and #60 for the following

         11  reasons:

         12                 First, they are unnecessary because

         13  the industry has created a successful, self-

         14  regulatory program to rate its products through the

         15  Entertainment Software Rating Board, and to provide

         16  rating information to parents to enable them to make

         17  informed purchase and rental decisions.

         18                 Second, the legislation is

         19  unconstitutional because it restricts a minors'

         20  access to video games that are neither obscene nor

         21  harmful under either New York State Law or the First

         22  Amendment.

         23                 And third, similar restrictions have

         24  been found to violate due process, because they

         25  unlawfully delegate legislative power to a private
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          2  group.

          3                 As a mother and former Assistant DA

          4  from Brooklyn, I share the concerns about children.

          5  That is why I am proud that 10 years ago created a

          6  self- regulatory body that has been called the most

          7  comprehensive rating system in the country.  It has

          8  been called an industry model by the Federal Trade

          9  Commission and by Senator Leiberman, neither, which

         10  are, you know, fans of the industry, but they have

         11  examined what the ESRB does.

         12                 Prior to joining ESA, I served as

         13  Counsel to the MPAA's rating system for about 10

         14  years.  Both the MPAA and ESRB rating systems are

         15  based on voluntary industry compliance, and because

         16  of Constitutional issues, there are no laws or

         17  regulations in effect that mandate the enforcement

         18  of either the MPAA or ESRB ratings.

         19                 Let's look at who plays and who buys

         20  the video games.  It may surprise you to learn that

         21  the average game player is 29 years old, and that 39

         22  percent of game players are women. There is also a

         23  misperception that violent games are the most

         24  popular in the market.

         25                 Sales figures for 2003 show there is
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          2  a broad array of family, friendly titles on the best

          3  seller charts.  In 2003, six of the top ten best

          4  selling video games received an E- rating, three

          5  were rated T, and one mature.  The most popular

          6  includes sports games, such as Madden, NFL, Tony

          7  Hawkins, NBA Live, games based on movies, like Enter

          8  the Matrix, racing games like Need for Speed and

          9  children's games like Pokemon Ruby, Zelda, and

         10  Marion Kart.

         11                 Moreover, only 10 percent of all

         12  games were rated M in 2003, with sales from M- rated

         13  games comprising 11.9 percent of all video games.

         14  In contrast, 57 percent were rated "E" for Everyone

         15  with sales of 54 percent of games.  The remaining 32

         16  percent were T- rated representing 30.5 percent of

         17  sales.  So the overwhelming majority of video games

         18  that were distributed and rated in 2003 were rated

         19   "E" for everyone.

         20                 Much has been said about the possible

         21  role of video games in youth violence.  And I would

         22  like to take turn to see what the groups like the

         23  FBI and others have said, it may surprise you.

         24                 A report prepared by the FBI entitled

         25   "Lessons Learned," includes a profile of school
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          2  shooters, and it listed 30 factors, such as low

          3  self- esteem, fascination with firearms, lack of

          4  family support as indicators of violent acts.  It

          5  did not list playing video games.  The National

          6  Associations of Attorney's General released a report

          7  in 2000 studying the causes of youth violence.  The

          8  report found that home life and harassment by peers

          9  were the number one and number two causes of youth

         10  violence in the country.

         11                 The US Surgeon General, General

         12  Satcher, released a report also in 2000 in which he

         13  stated, it was extremely difficult to distinguish

         14  between the relatively small, long- term effects of

         15  exposure to the immediate violence and of other

         16  influences.

         17                 I would like to turn to the

         18  Constitutional issues as to why you can regulate

         19  cigarettes, very briefly, but not content products

         20  such as games and movies.  The courts have never

         21  upheld -

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Ms. Markels, I am

         23  going to give you another minute to your testimony.

         24                 MS. MARKELS:  Thank you, Sir.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.
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          2                 MS. MARKELS:  The courts have never

          3  held up restrictions on a minor's or adult's access

          4  to the depictions of violence in any media, nor have

          5  the courts ever upheld restrictions on a minor's

          6  access to "R" or "X" rated motion pictures in

          7  theaters or in video stores.  As a result, there are

          8  no laws or regulations in effect that mandates the

          9  enforcement of either MPAA or ESRB regulations, and

         10  do believe that serious Constitutional issues are

         11  raised.

         12                 I am happy to stop here, Sir.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, you did

         14  great.  I have one question because I was very

         15  confused.  In your testimony, in the early part of

         16  it, you said, well this is not regulated by New York

         17  State Law?

         18                 MS. MARKELS:  What I was saying was

         19  that these games are not obscene under New York

         20  State Law, the First Amendment. There are New York

         21  laws that prohibit minors' access to obscene motion

         22  pictures.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So in other words

         24  if we got New York State to deem these obscene then

         25  there would be a way to regulate it.
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          2                 MS. MARKELS:  No, I would say that

          3  you would have to follow New York State's definition

          4  for obscenity, which includes sexually explicit

          5  materials in accordance with the three- tier

          6  obscenity test.  New York has a Constitutional

          7  Obscenity Statute on the books for children, this is

          8  called, "Harmful to Minors," but it does not extend

          9  to the regulation of violence, it extends to the

         10  regulation of sexually explicit content.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Fine, I guess but

         12  my question is, in other words, you are saying that

         13  there is a New York State standard for obscenity.

         14                 MS. MARKELS:  Yes there is, Sir.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And I would not

         16  want to poll every body at this table, but I imagine

         17  what we saw up there would not be our standards.  So

         18  maybe we need to enlist the State in our efforts to

         19  reign in some of this.

         20                 Because then you said or the First

         21  Amendment, and so, I was not sure if we were talking

         22  a game of cat and mouse here, where we might be able

         23  to get the State to say yes, and then we would be

         24  challenged by the Constitutional First Amendment for

         25  free speech.
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          2                 MS. MARKELS:  What the City Council

          3  and the State can do is they can regulate minors'

          4  access to sexually explicit materials, but not

          5  violent materials.  If you use the State Law, it has

          6  to be limited to sexually explicit content, in

          7  accordance with the three- tier test.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

          9  much.  Sir, please.

         10                 MR. ZAPF:  My name is Tom Zapf.  I am

         11  a member of the New York Metropolitan Retailers

         12  Association.  And today, I am reading testimony

         13  prepared by Donald Halperin, who is the

         14  representative from Cantor Davidoff and represents

         15  our Association.          "Our organization is an

         16  organization consisting primarily of major national

         17  chain retailers operating within the City of New

         18  York.

         19                 I fully expect that by the end of

         20  this hearing you will have heard a number of experts

         21  testify on the Constitutional strictures, which

         22  prohibit government from restricting the

         23  distribution of video and computer games to minors,

         24  or imposing requirements and standards established

         25  by a non- governmental entity.  Suffice it to say
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          2  that NYMRA believes that the ability of any

          3  legislative body to imposed such requirements has

          4  been prohibited by the courts.

          5                 By this hearing's end, you will also

          6  have heard from experts, on the affect of violent

          7  games on the behavior of youth. While this issue is

          8  subject to numerous opinions, we urge the Council

          9  not to act solely on the basis of conjecture by some

         10  individuals.

         11                 Since other testifying today have

         12  better credentials to address the Constitutional and

         13  behavioral issues, I will focus my comments on the

         14  impact that the proposals embodied in Intro. 60

         15  would have on national chain retailers, and simply

         16  state that NYMRA believes that the absolute

         17  prohibition of sales of mature, or M rated, video

         18  and computer games to minors as contained in Intro.

         19  18 is unconstitutional and unenforceable.

         20                 Anyone familiar with the retail

         21  business knows of its competitiveness and of the

         22  slim margins of profit, that characterize it.  Even

         23  the best known retailers have gone out of business

         24  or sought bankruptcy protection.  Cost containment

         25  is a critical component of a chain retailer's
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          2  ability to compete. Implementing even uniform

          3  policies in each and every facility can be a

          4  daunting and expensive task.  The degree to which

          5  these policies are altered by local law very much

          6  complicates that challenge.  While NYMRA respects

          7  the authority of municipalities to implement laws,

          8  which they feel are to the benefit to their

          9  residents, the impact of these laws on retailers

         10  should not be ignored.

         11                 Currently, almost all video and

         12  computer game retailers arrange their games by

         13  platform as a convenience to consumers who generally

         14  shop for a game that can be used with the hardware

         15  they happen to own.  It is unclear from the language

         16  of the legislation whether it is intended that all

         17  M- rated games be located in a single location

         18  within a store or whether they must simply not be

         19  intermingled with other non- M- rated videos, so

         20  that they could be kept adjacent to games using the

         21  same platform. Moreover, it is unclear what

         22  constitutes an adequate segregation of the games

         23  under the legislation.  In any event, a significant

         24  amount of manpower would be necessary to subdivide

         25  each category of game and to maintain the
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          2  segregation, since customers are likely to pick up

          3  games and put them down wherever they choose.

          4  Moreover, significant investment would have to be

          5  made in rearranging or replacing the display

          6  fixtures currently in use.  These additional costs

          7  would be passed on to the consumer.

          8                 The policy implications relating to

          9  segregation go beyond interactive games.  For

         10  example, while the X- rated movie videos must be

         11  segregated and limited to access by adults, there is

         12  no such segregation between R- rated and other

         13  movies.  Since X rated movies usually have obscene

         14  content, government can legally require that they be

         15  segregated.  Government does not have that authority

         16  for R- rated movies or M- rated video games, so

         17  there seems to be no rationale in distinguishing

         18  interactive games in this regard from other types of

         19  content- related materials such as VCRs, DVDs and

         20  Cards, and not to mention books.

         21                 As you have all heard from others

         22  testifying today, a comprehensive, voluntary, rating

         23  program already exists under the ESRB, and NYMRA

         24  members currently participate in this program. While

         25  NYMRA stands ready to work with the New York City
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          2  Council to better implement the policies of the

          3  ERSB, we believe that it is most unwise to embark

          4  upon legislative action as contained in Intros. 18

          5  and 60."

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:   Thank you very

          8  much.  I have to step away for a minute.  I know

          9  Council Member Vallone had several questions.

         10  Council Member Brewer will Chair, I will be back in

         11  just a minute.

         12                 But your comment about the restocking

         13  and how, I mean, you are right, customers come and

         14  they put stuff down.  But the image of the sales

         15  person of refolding clothes all the time came to

         16  mind.  And to tell me that in a store that the

         17  customer is not going to be allowed to touch it, you

         18  cannot separate clothes by size, which is what they

         19  do all the time, that is a cost of doing business to

         20  restock stuff.  So, I may be able to buy some of the

         21  defense that the industry wants to put forward, but

         22  that is tough, you know, that is just too bad.

         23  Because they stock stuff all the time, whether it is

         24  a violent video games, or the sports video games

         25  went with the comedies, or the comedies went with
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          2  the murders, I do not know, something about that

          3  comment that annoyed me.

          4                 MR. ZAPF:  Okay, well, we did not

          5  mean it to, but I can ensure you that it is the goal

          6   - -

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  We may have some

          8  substantive debate, but let's not hang this up on

          9  this somebody has got to sit up there and restock

         10  the shelves.

         11                 MR. ZAPF:  Well the goal is always to

         12  make sure -              CHAIRPERSON REED:  Let's

         13  keep the debate at some other level than that.

         14                 MR. ZAPF:  The goal was always to

         15  make sure, number one, the store looks good and the

         16  customer it serves.  But we do have customers who

         17  pick things up and put them down.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I understand that.

         19                 MR. ZAPF:  And in current form, there

         20  is not enough information as to how we are supposed

         21  to keep up with that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Oh, I understand

         23  that point of it.  Thank you.

         24                 MR. ZAPF:  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Council Member
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          2  Vallone

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you,

          4  Mr. Chair.  Did you foresee what we saw just a few

          5  moments ago, women being used for sex, and then

          6  kicked to death for the money back, calls to kill

          7  the Haitians?  You have the unmitigated gall to sit

          8  here now and oppose banning the sales of these

          9  videos, these games to minors?

         10                 Let's look at why?  Ms. Sylla, and

         11  you just mentioned the affect on retailers.  Now I

         12  agree with the Chair, I could care less that it

         13  might be a little confusing and it might be a little

         14  labor intensive to restock these things, so let's

         15  forget that.  The only thing I might care about is

         16  their ability to make a living.  But how, if they

         17  are so good right now, at banning the sale to 18-

         18  year- olds voluntarily, how would the law preventing

         19  the sale, to under 18- year- olds, affect them

         20  monetarily?  Could somebody answer that question for

         21  me?

         22                 MS. SYLLA:  First of all, the ESRB

         23  Rating System, I would like to point out, is a

         24  voluntary rating system.  It is not a rating system

         25  mandated by the government.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  We

          3  understand that.

          4                 MS. SYLLA:  I, personally, I do not

          5  play violent video games.  It is an issue that has

          6  been brought up with our members and they are aware

          7  of what is going on, and they know that they owe a

          8  duty to their consumers and to parents to have

          9  signage in the stores and educate consumers on these

         10  games.

         11                 A lot of times parents are not aware

         12  of the content material that are in the games.  That

         13  is why, recently, this past December we have

         14  stressed to our members, we have been working with

         15  the ESRB.  I, myself, --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I am sorry,

         17  there are a lot of Council members that need to ask

         18  questions.  The question was, how are they affected

         19  monetarily by a law that says they cannot sell to

         20  under 18- year- olds, when they do not do it now?

         21  Anyone can jump in.

         22                 MS. MARKELS:  Let me try.  I think

         23  the point we are trying to make is that - -

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  You have

         25  to talk into the microphone so that we can hear.
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          2                 MS. MARKELS:  Sure, thank you.  You

          3  know, let me respond in a couple of ways.  I have a

          4  14- year- old, a son, we have many speared debates

          5  in my home as to whether he can play Vice City, he

          6  cannot.  Whether he can see --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  I am sorry,

          8  we need to stick to the question.

          9                 MS. MARKELS:  I am --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Okay, how is

         11  a retailer affected, that is the question, no more

         12  testimony, we are done, we have people that want to

         13  testify.

         14                 MS. MARKELS:  The legislation that

         15  you are proposing is unconstitutional on many

         16  levels.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  I am getting

         18  to that one, next, why it is unconstitutional.  How

         19  are retailers, forget it, I got my answer, they are

         20  not affected.

         21                 Let's get to the next question.  Now,

         22  I believe it was you, Ms. Markels, who said that

         23  they are unnecessary because they are successful in

         24  self- regulating, which none of us agree with.  What

         25  you are doing is not working.  And you mentioned
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          2  that it is unconstitutional because they restrict

          3  minors access to non violent games.  How in the

          4  world does it do that?

          5                 First of all, we are not talking

          6  about non- violent games, and second of all, if they

          7  want one, they ask their parent to buy it for them.

          8  So how does it do that?

          9                 MS. MARKELS:  I believe I said non-

         10  obscene games.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Either way,

         12  how does it do that?

         13                 MS. MARKELS:  Under the First

         14  Amendment both children and adults have First

         15  Amendment rights, and the courts have looked at

         16  legislation similar, there is litigation in

         17  Washington State, the courts have enjoined its

         18  enforcement.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  I understand

         20  completely what the courts have said.  I want to

         21  know your opinion in how a minors' access is

         22  restricted?

         23                 MS. MARKELS:  Well the law is

         24  treating video games differently than they treat

         25  other constitutionally protected product, such as
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          2  movies, books, magazines.  Video games are based on

          3  screenplays, they are based on movies.  It simply

          4  makes no sense to prohibit a minor's access to a

          5  video game, when they can see the movie in a theater

          6  or rent the movie in a video store.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  They cannot

          8  see the movie in the theater, we all understand

          9  that, but they can get a video game that has a

         10  prostitute being killed and kicked to death for the

         11  money back.  They can do that, but they cannot see

         12  that in a theater.

         13                 MS. MARKELS:  Retailers have stepped

         14  up to the plate to increase enforcement efforts.

         15  The survey that was done, that was quoted by the

         16  City Council was done before the IEMA adopted their

         17  policy.  The sting, I believe, was done in November.

         18    Can we do a better job?  You bet, but passing a

         19  law that is unconstitutional is not going to

         20  increase retail enforcement.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Well we did

         22  our own study, and it showed that there is almost no

         23  enforcement, voluntary restrictions going on, and no

         24  enforcement within the industry.

         25                 And you know, for you to hide behind
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          2  some misguided judges to sell this filth to minors,

          3  is just plain despicable.  And I just hope you all

          4  get paid a lot of money for it.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Council

          6  Member Barron.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Just a couple

          8  of questions I have.  Number one, you said 90

          9  percent of the items are purchased by adults.  So

         10  why would you have problems with us having some

         11  regulations against?  And even in the First

         12  Amendment, there are some cases around the country

         13  where the First Amendment does not disallow states

         14  and cities to put some regulations in place.  You

         15  are aware of that?  The First Amendment does not say

         16  that the state and the city cannot have regulations.

         17                 MS. MARKELS:  They can have

         18  regulations.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Right.

         20                 MS. MARKELS:  They have to meet

         21  certain standards.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Right.

         23                 MS. MARKELS:  And the courts have

         24  said that this kind of regulation does not meet that

         25  standard.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Right, right.

          3    So the question is meeting certain standards.  It

          4  is not like your First Amendment rights allow you to

          5  do just anything.  There are certain things that can

          6  be regulated.

          7                 And when we look at, particularly the

          8  resolutions that we are coming forth, they are

          9  saying prohibiting the sale to minors, and you

         10  testified and said that 90 percent is, you know,

         11  sold to adults anyway.  So what would your problem

         12  be, and are you concerned about minors getting this

         13  kind of material, and what would your problems be

         14  with a resolution that is calling for to prohibit

         15  minors receiving this kind of material?

         16                 MS. MARKELS:  In my home, my 14-

         17  year- old does not have access to this kind of

         18  material.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  We are clear

         20  on that, I am talking about regulation.

         21                 MS. MARKELS:  We believe that it is

         22  parents and not government that should be making the

         23  decision.  You know, we have, this is an NHL Hockey

         24  Game 2004, it is E- rated.  It has a violence

         25  descriptor on the back.  Is this a prohibitive
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          2  violent work, or is it a non- prohibitive violent

          3  work?  Star Trek Amada, E- rated, it also has a

          4  violence descriptor on the back.  How do you define

          5   -             COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  So what do

          6  you think we should do with the Haitian tape, just

          7  say, well, like if parents want to buy that for

          8  their children, particularly with all of this racism

          9  in America, so if some white parents want to buy

         10  that for their children, fine, no problem.  That we

         11  should not do anything about that.  That is not, see

         12  this abusive use of the First Amendment, that is a

         13  fine line between the First Amendment rights and the

         14  role of government to protect minors.  And that has

         15  been a very, very gray area, and an area where

         16  legislation such as this, which seems to promote the

         17  perceived first interest that you have, unless you

         18  are not saying something.  And I think Council

         19  Member Vallone's question in the economic area, in

         20  the money area, is that it would hurt you

         21  financially.  And if it does not hurt you

         22  financially, which you never gave him a direct

         23  answer to that, than why not support some

         24  legislation that would protect minors from things

         25  that, we have sat here in many studies, even the

                                                            100

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  American Psychiatric Association has come up with

          3  the physical and mental impact that some of this

          4  material can have on minors, why would you be

          5  opposed to some kind of protection for minors?

          6                 MS. SYLLA:  Our members of the IEMA

          7  are very, we feel that we do have a role to protect

          8  minors.  And that role is putting signage in the

          9  store and enforcing the rating system.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  But it is not

         11  working.

         12                 MS. SYLLA:  Following the steps, we

         13  just adopted this - -

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Yes, and it

         15  is not working.

         16                 MS. SYLLA: -- this past December.

         17  Well, it has not been put in place fully.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Well, - -

         19                 MS. SYLLA:  I mean, you have, we have

         20  some of the top 20 retailers that have thousands and

         21  thousands of stores in the country, and it is not

         22  something that is going to happen overnight. These

         23  retailers have to make sure that their employees are

         24  trained on the rating system.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  So why would
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          2  you be opposed of the City Council putting

          3  legislation forward to assist you in what you seem

          4  to be trying to achieve?  You know, the problem, - MS

          5  . SYLLA:  Because we would like to  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  The problem

          7  with self regulation is equivalent to having the

          8  Internal Affairs of the Police Department and the

          9  CCRB, and the Police Department, police policing the

         10  police around police brutality.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Council

         12  member, just that there are other questions, I hate

         13  to cut you off.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Okay, just

         15  let me finish this.  You know, the internal

         16  regulation usual needs some external assistance

         17  because they are self- interest internally that

         18  would not allow for regulation to be objective.

         19                 MS. SYLLA:  We are following in the

         20  steps of the movie theater industry.  Right now, you

         21  have videotapes in stores.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  So you have

         23  no problems with the way things are going now, the

         24  access --

         25                 MS. SYLLA:  We are changing the way
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          2  things are, and that is why we work proactively to

          3  make sure that signage in the stores is increased so

          4  that parents know about the games' rating. And we

          5  are also doing enforcement in the stores, which is

          6  something that the top retailers were not doing

          7  before.

          8                 MS. VANCE:  As an industry.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Okay.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Council

         11  Member Addabbo.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you,

         13  Council Member Brewer.  I want to thank the panel

         14  here for their time and testimony today.

         15                 And just to draw on the note that

         16  Council Member Vallone and Council Member Barron are

         17  saying about the economics of it all, in my opinion,

         18  it is a shame that, it just seems that the road we

         19  are leading down is to make more money through these

         20  games that are M- rated.  It is how more detailed

         21  can we get, how more realistic can we get in the

         22  terms of the graphic nature, and I just think it is

         23  a bad road that the industry is going down.

         24                 I have no confidence that your plans

         25  that are being put into effect are being enforced.
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          2  From what I am hearing today, I have no confidence

          3  at all, even if it is new, and the signs that we

          4  were shown today, I just have no confidence of them

          5  being enforced.

          6                 The industry, according to testimony,

          7  the industry has created a comprehensive rating

          8  system committed to enforcing and promoting, and

          9  they are taking proactive steps toward enforcement

         10  and promotion.  What details do we have on

         11  enforcement, what steps have been taken for

         12  enforcement?  I do not hear a lot of detail yet.

         13                 MS. SYLLA:  Okay, for example, in

         14  some of our stores they have implemented a register

         15  prompting system, in which the minor will come up

         16  when they purchase the game.  It will be rung

         17  through, and then the sales clerk will ask the

         18  minor, this is an M rated game, can I see an ID.

         19  And this is something that quite a few of our

         20  members did not have before.  They are implementing,

         21  in the process of doing that.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Any

         23  statistics, whatsoever, on situations where that

         24  minor was denied that game at all, again, is there

         25  any statistic that will show that?
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          2                 MS. SYLLA:  Well I will tell you

          3  this, the National Institute on Media and the

          4  Families does an annual "Video Game Report Card"

          5  every year.  We asked, Dr. Walsh, who is head of

          6  that organization, to go back and look at the

          7  results.  And what he founds was that those

          8  retailers who have policies in place, it is being

          9  enforced.  Kids are not being able to purchase the

         10  games.

         11                 But where you do not have a policy in

         12  place, you are going to get the 100 percent of the

         13  time, kids are going to be able to get their hands

         14  on M- rated games.  So what we took from that, is we

         15  talked to our members, we talked to the store

         16  people, head of the store operations for each of our

         17  members, and said, look, this is something, you

         18  know, we had Senator Leiberman speaking with us,

         19  Senator McCall, so on a Federal level we were

         20  working with their offices.  And so we got all of

         21  our members to commit to putting an enforcement

         22  policy in place.  And not just an enforcement

         23  policy, but also the signage, which is such an

         24  important, it is key to complement with the

         25  enforcement.
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          2                 So right now, a lot of our store

          3  members are trying to educate the sale clerks about

          4  the rating system.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Okay.

          6                 MS. SYLLA:  It is a new rating

          7  system.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  So since

          9  this is the first hearing on this issue, then we are

         10  hopeful that on the next hearing on this issue, if

         11  we can have information on the better steps being

         12  taken on enforcement, that might help.

         13                 MS. SYLLA:  Okay.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  But with

         15  regards to the stores that have the signage.

         16  Obviously, there was a list of the stores, Ms.

         17  Markels' testimony, a list of stores, and again,

         18  these are all big name stores.  Obviously, we know

         19  in the City, throughout the City, we have smaller

         20  stores.  I mean my neighborhood stores are very

         21  popular stores for these type of games.  Yet, I am

         22  concerned that that signage that we saw today is not

         23  going to make it into that store.  Yet, there are

         24  thousands of those stores throughout the City.

         25                 Is that true, that only these big
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          2  name stores are going to get that signage, and

          3  again, thousands of little stores do not get that

          4  signage?

          5                 MS. MARKELS:  As I mentioned in my

          6  testimony, we first wanted to focus on the top

          7  retailers across the country, because that is 90

          8  percent of the sales.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  And when

         10  will we see it in the smaller stores?

         11                 MS. VANCE:  Okay, as I mentioned in

         12  my testimony, we have just now begun to focus on the

         13  local and independent retailers.  We have made

         14  proposals to a number of Council members to actually

         15  work within their districts with their local

         16  retailers, as well as with grassroots organizations,

         17  and I testified to that effect.  And this is a goal

         18  of ours this year, is to begin now to get this

         19  program trickling down into the local communities

         20  and the local retailers who are more independent and

         21  who have different kinds of displays, and who do not

         22  have the resources that many of the larger retailers

         23  do.  So we do not want it to be burdensome, because

         24  frankly, this program is burdensome from a financial

         25  standpoint to roll out nationally.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  I think when

          3  we talk about cost, about implementing something as

          4  important as this, I do not think cost should really

          5  be a factor.

          6                 MS. VANCE:  It is not just cost,

          7  burdensome, when I say burdensome, I mean it is not

          8  just financial from a resource standpoint.  You need

          9  store managers going back in the back room, pulling

         10  the stuff out of the back rooms, getting it on the

         11  floor, making sure that materials come down and new

         12  materials come out. From an executional standpoint,

         13  it is more than just a printing of signage and

         14  sending it out to stores.  It is actually execution.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Okay, I have

         16  not been contacted yet to work in my district with

         17  the industry.  I would be more than happy to work

         18  with my local retailers.  So I appreciate reaching

         19  out to my office.

         20                 And again, on the next hearing of

         21  this, I would like to hear that these signs have

         22  gotten to the smaller stores.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Council

         25  Member Clarke.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Thank you,

          3  Madam Chair.  I would like to just sort of echo what

          4  Council Member Addabbo has stated.  New York City is

          5  a mom and pop store city.  We are just getting some

          6  of the major retailers in, and particularly, in the

          7  outer boroughs, which is where you will find many

          8  more of the abuses of your system taking place.

          9                 I had the liberty of being able to

         10  sit down with many of you prior to this hearing

         11  today.  I remain concerned about bad actors within

         12  your Association.  It is clear to me that you will

         13  continue to see this type of backlash from

         14  jurisdictions around this nation, as long as we have

         15  this blanket cover- up of bad actors within the

         16  industry.  It is very clear that "Grand Thefts Auto:

         17  Vice City" has become one of the most offensive and

         18  one of the greatest offenders and abuses with

         19  respect to video games.  This does not, this does

         20  not just have an impact on children, it has an

         21  impact on adults, and it is has an impact on

         22  communities.

         23                 And we are concerned that, if,

         24  indeed, the industry is being self- regulating, that

         25  it be able to reach out to its own participants to
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          2  deal with issues of this.  We do not want to feel

          3  that the industry is in cahoots and collaboration

          4  with an actor like Rock Star that is blatantly

          5  sending out racist signals, sending out issues of,

          6  sending out signals that can be repeated over and

          7  over and over again about the extermination of a

          8  people, and not hear anything, publicly, coming from

          9  your industry.

         10                 I want to say to you that there is a

         11  lot of work to be done, and the rating system is a

         12  great step.  But when you have a bad actor, like

         13  Rock Star, involved in your Association, and there

         14  is no voice coming from your Association to deal

         15  with the issue that has caused so much anguish

         16  around this city, around this state, and around this

         17  nation, you are up against a fight, and it is going

         18  to be a continued one.

         19                 So I just wanted to make sure that

         20  the industry is clear on the fact that,

         21  unfortunately, in just about every industry it is

         22  this way, even amongst politicians, one bad apple

         23  spoils it for the whole bunch.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, Council
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          2  member. Council Member Gioia.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chair.  I have a few questions.

          5                 First, let's see, where do I begin?

          6  Is it  Ms. Sylla?

          7                 MS. SYLLA:  Sylla.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Ms. Sylla, how

          9  many members are in your organization?

         10                 MS. SYLLA:  About how many members?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Yes.

         12                 MS. SYLLA:  We have some new people,

         13  so about 25.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  In New York

         15  City that is 25?

         16                 MS. SYLLA:  In New York City, I

         17  cannot give you the exact number, but we have quite

         18  a few members.  Actually, on your report there were

         19  about 11 stores.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Nationwide you

         21  have 25 members, which how many employees would you

         22  say out of those 25 members?

         23                 MS. SYLLA:  My gosh.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Thousands?

         25                 MS. SYLLA:  Thousands and thousands.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Thousands of

          3  employees?

          4                 MS. SYLLA:  Yes, thousands and

          5  thousands.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  When you go to

          7  educate them on the voluntary system, how big is the

          8  educational staff?

          9                 MS. SYLLA:  Well what is going on is

         10  the ESRB has been working with us, as well.  Pat

         11  might be able to speak on that.

         12                 MS. VANCE:  I actually would rather

         13  speak to that. We actually have developed a number

         14  of different training programs that then go down

         15  into, every chain is, obviously, structured

         16  differently, but there are field representatives and

         17  merchandisers and buyers, and then there are, you

         18  know, people who are solely responsible for training

         19  sale associates.  It is not something that we can

         20  do, it is an internal process, they are trained on a

         21  number of things, not just our rating system but

         22  many other things.

         23                 But we have developed quizzes and

         24  other types of vehicles that help, and we create it

         25  for them because we are the experts in it, we want
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          2  to make sure that it gets done properly.  So then it

          3  is their responsibility to filter it down through

          4  their organizations and train their own store

          5  associates.  So it is not something we can

          6  technically do.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  But, Ms.

          8  Sylla, your organization has no staff dedicated to

          9  training your members?

         10                 MS. SYLLA:  No, we do not.  We work

         11  in a partnership with the ESRB.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Okay, so you

         13  have no staff. How many does ESRB, how much staff do

         14  you have dedicated to educating the members?

         15                 MS. VANCE:  We have a marketing staff

         16  of a couple of people.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Two?  You have

         18  a marketing staff of two people nationally?

         19                 MS. VANCE:  Of two people, we have an

         20  ad agency, we have a promotion's agency, we have a

         21  sign agency.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  I am just

         23  trying to figure out the extent to which you are

         24  trying to educate people on the voluntary system.

         25                 MS. VANCE:  Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  So you have a

          3  marketing staff of two.  I am sorry, is this a $10

          4  billion industry?  How much money is being made

          5  yearly in this industry?

          6                 MS. VANCE:  What does the staff, my

          7  staff have to do with the size of the industry?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Well the

          9  question is, we are talking about a voluntary

         10  system, which all of you agree is working, and it is

         11  a good system.  And we are talking about thousands

         12  employees across the United States of America, who

         13  our investigation has shown, at least, in New York

         14  are not following your own voluntary laws.

         15                 Our contention is, is not that these

         16  people are bad people, but that they do not actually

         17  understand the voluntary system that they are

         18  volunteering for.  And so, I am asking, what level

         19  of education do these store employees have, and I am

         20  wondering what percentage of your resources are

         21  being dedicated to educating your workers?

         22                 So it is two people in your marketing

         23  department, nationally, to educate thousands of

         24  workers nationally.

         25                 MS. VANCE:  These people are not

                                                            114

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  responsible for educating the workers.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Who is

          4  responsible for educating the workers?

          5                 MS. VANCE:  As I described to you,

          6  these retailers have store associates who are their

          7  employees, they are not our employees.  They have

          8  training programs, they have people whose full- time

          9  job is to train their employees on methods and

         10  strategies, and merchandizing.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  So the ESRB,

         12  it is not your responsibility to educate - -

         13                 MS. VANCE:  We provide the materials

         14  to the retailers, for the retailers then in turn to

         15  train their employees.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  It is up to

         17  the retailers then, - -

         18                 MS. VANCE:  Absolutely.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: - -  to provide

         20  employees to train their own employees.

         21                 MS. VANCE:  Absolutely.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  And it is your

         23  responsibility to provide them with the material to

         24  train their employees.

         25                 MS. VANCE:  Absolutely.  Mind you, we
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          2  also, however, gone to many, many of the retailers

          3  have national meetings, regular annual meetings.

          4  Are you listening?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Yes, I am.

          6                 MS. VANCE:  Annual meetings where

          7  they bring in all their field sales people and field

          8  managers.  We have actually attended  number of

          9  those meetings.  We go to conferences where

         10  retailers attend, and we hold seminars and things.

         11  So there are ways that we can touch more people that

         12  are actually on the street.

         13                 But, frankly, you have these massive

         14  organizations with many employees who have to be

         15  trained on many things from using the register on

         16  down to how you merchandise a display to what you

         17  know about your product.  And I think it is

         18  unreasonable for you to expect that an organization,

         19  like ours, which is a non profit, goes and actually

         20  trains people who are not even employees of ours.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  So we have a

         22  voluntary system, which you believe is a good

         23  system.

         24                 MS. VANCE:  I am proud of our system.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  But we believe
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          2  it is not being followed, and so, is it your

          3  contention that it is the fault of the retailers for

          4  not educating their employees to your good system

          5  that you have created?

          6                 MS. VANCE:  Do I think it is the

          7  fault?  I do not think it is the fault.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Well it is not

          9  being followed, so should the retailers be doing a

         10  better job in educating their employees?

         11                 MS. VANCE:  I think, what we did, we

         12  spent a lot of time listening in order to develop

         13  this program and make it successful.  We spent a

         14  full year listening to retailers' concerns about the

         15  difficulties they have in terms of staff turnover,

         16  in terms of training, in terms of store signage, in

         17  terms of getting things installed.  And in order to

         18  make an effective program, you need to listen, and

         19  we listened.  And the program that we have developed

         20  was responsive to their needs and the concerns that

         21  they had, and the hurdles that we needed to overcome

         22  in order to make it work.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Why do you

         24  think it works?

         25                 MS. VANCE:  I think it works because
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          2  it is clear, it is visible, it is at the point of

          3  purchase, which historically, we used to send

          4  posters and brochures out to stores, which I think

          5  is also what Mavia does.  I felt very strongly that

          6  that probably was not the best place to remind

          7  consumers that there is a rating system, to make

          8  sure that they know how to use it.

          9                 So our whole program, on the national

         10  level, was really meant to make sure that consumers

         11  had information at the point where they are making a

         12  decision to purchase a product.  Now some of those

         13  consumers are going to ask store associates, but

         14  many of them do not.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  But I guess

         16  what I do not understand is, we did the

         17  investigation and we showed that minors went into

         18  stores in New York City 97 percent of the time, and

         19  bought M- rated games.  You testified to us that you

         20  believed your voluntary system works.  So I am

         21  asking, why do you think it works, if the goal is to

         22  prevent minors from buying mature- rated games?

         23                 MS. VANCE:  Our program was launched

         24  last October, give it a chance.  It has, we have

         25  trained 85,000 store associates online with our
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          2  quiz.  We are making a difference.

          3                 Now you have got to understand that

          4  there are difficulties in terms of staff turnover,

          5  we are going to continue to train people.  But those

          6  85,000, how many of them are still employed in those

          7  stores, it is hard to tell.  But we are continuing

          8  every day to work this issue and make sure the

          9  program is successful and being effectively

         10  implemented.  That is our job, that is why we have

         11  full- time employees.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Would you

         13  agree to an independent audit by an accounting firm?

         14                 MS. VANCE:  They are already

         15  independent audits. The FTC does a mystery shopper

         16  program.  New York City Council does one, the

         17  National Institute of Media and Family, absolutely,

         18  I support audits because they help us.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Okay to play,

         20  can I see the okay to play.

         21                 MS. VANCE:  I think I gave all my

         22  samples.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Can we have an

         24  okay to play, Sergeant- At- Arms, do we have one of

         25  the things they handed out?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  They are back over

          3  here.

          4                 MS. VANCE:  Do you want a copy of the

          5  ad?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  They are back,

          7  I think you have it.  I do not want it, can you just

          8  hold it up, or have a Sergeant- At- Arms hold it up?

          9                 MS. VANCE:  This is the ad, or you

         10  want the retail signage?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  It is all, I

         12  just want to, it is the retail signage actually, or

         13  the ad, it really does not matter.

         14                 MS. VANCE:  That is an example of a

         15  unit riser, so that will go insert above a display

         16  of games on a rack.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  I am sorry,

         18  which advertising firm designed this, or did you

         19  design this in- house?

         20                 MS. VANCE:  We used a display agency,

         21  to actually, I believe to sign that.  What we did

         22  was we used elements of our PSA Campaign, and to

         23  design display materials.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Which firm is

         25  designed the PSA Ad for the campaign?
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          2                 MS. VANCE: MKA, what difference does

          3  it make?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Oh, this is

          5  incredible, what difference does it make?

          6                 MS. VANCE:  No, I am serious, because

          7   - -

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Well I mean

          9  this is what we do at hearings, we talk about - -

         10                 MS. VANCE: - -  MKA Advertiser is a

         11  small, boutique agency that designed the campaign

         12  for us.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Did you, I

         14  want to understand there is a process with which you

         15  went through to design this program.  Did you focus

         16  group it?

         17                 MS. VANCE:  Yes, we did, actually, we

         18  tested it, we stood outside of stores and actually

         19  tested it all across the country to see how this ad

         20  campaign resonated.

         21                 What we wanted to make sure of is

         22  that the graphic, that people understood there were

         23  two components to the rating system.  There were

         24  rating symbols on the front and content descriptors

         25  on the back.  We wanted to make sure that that
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          2  message was very clear.  So we developed that

          3  graphic.

          4                 Then we wanted to make sure - -

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  The okay to

          6  play graphic?

          7                 MS. VANCE:  No, not the okay, can I

          8  see the campaign, please?

          9                 This graphic here, with the rating

         10  symbols on the front, with the video game box in the

         11  middle, and the content descriptors on the back,

         12  this is a critical element of the campaign.  This

         13  slogan was very important in terms of highlighting a

         14  value proposition to a parent, as to why I care

         15  about the ratings.  Because part of our problem is

         16  some parents just do not care.  They will go and

         17  rent an R- rated movie for their kids, it happens

         18  with me all the time, when I send my kids off to

         19  their friends' houses.  God forbid, their parents

         20  bring home R- rated movies.  This is the same thing.

         21    We want people, we want parents to understand why

         22  they should use the rating system.  Is this game

         23  okay for my kids to play?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  So in your

         25  test of this slogan and of this ad campaign, which
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          2  you tested naturally.

          3                 MS. VANCE:  We went through many

          4  iterations.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  You focused

          6  groups, you dialed group, you did all the different

          7  things, - -

          8                 MS. VANCE:  Absolutely.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: - -  that

         10  marketing firms do.

         11                 MS. VANCE:  Right.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  I hate to ask

         13  a simple question, but did it ever occur or come up

         14  in the discussions that the phrase, "Okay to Play,"

         15  with the word "okay" or the letters O K, twice the

         16  size and double the font of the other words, did it

         17  occur to anyone that this could be a misleading

         18  statement?  Instead of, you see, there is a question

         19  mark, so it turns the statement, "Okay to Play" into

         20  a question.

         21                 MS. VANCE:  It is a question.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Right, because

         23  of the question mark.  But did it ever occur to

         24  anyone that perhaps that would be deceptive, or send

         25  the wrong message, in that, like certainly, read in
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          2  its totality, it is a warning to parents, or a

          3  suggestion to parents that they look at the ratings.

          4    But would it not, in the form of a question, in

          5  other words, like the Jeopardy, you know when you

          6  are on Jeopardy, and they say ask in a form of a

          7  question.

          8                 MS. VANCE:  Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Right, so is

         10  it okay to play? You know, wouldn't that be more

         11  what we are trying to accomplish asking parents to

         12  ask the question, rather than the statement with a

         13  question mark at the end.

         14                 MS. VANCE:  What you need is a

         15  memorable slogan that is easy to remember, that is

         16  short and to the point, and succinct. We felt, "Okay

         17  to Play?" After testing, got to the point very

         18  quickly, and we had confirmation from that from

         19  consumers, retailers, many people that we spoke to.

         20     Maybe, --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Would you make

         22  public to this body your marketing research on this

         23  slogan and on this campaign?

         24                 MS. VANCE:  I mean it is proprietary,

         25  and some of it was informal, some of it was more
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          2  formal in nature.  We never released it to anybody.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  But I mean if

          4  the goal, if we are all on the same page and the

          5  goals are to try to get kids not to play these

          6  games, or to get kids not to buy them, I mean, it

          7  seems to me you would make it available to

          8  everybody.

          9                 MS. VANCE:  And I guess, for me, it

         10  is whether or not, if you test this campaign and the

         11  slogan with consumers, does it work, and if you

         12  tested it, I think you would find that it works.  So

         13  I am not sure to what end, you know, the information

         14  is out there, it has been well received.  Media

         15  companies would not be putting this ad in their

         16  magazines, if they did not think it was appropriate

         17  and spoke to their audience.  We have had people

         18  like Good Housekeeping, and Ladies Home Journal, and

         19  Red Book, run these ads.  I mean, these are ads that

         20  are being very well received, and you know, I am

         21  sorry that maybe you do not think that they are as

         22  effective as they could be.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  It is not that

         24  I do not think they are effective as they could be.

         25                 MS. VANCE:  We have gotten great
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          2  feedback on these ads from both consumers, media,

          3  retailers, alike.  And I think that we have done a

          4  great job.  We had 90 million people see these ads

          5  to try to help raise consumer awareness of the

          6  rating system in the last six months.  I think that

          7  is commendable.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Well with all

          9  due respect to the job you have done, I think the

         10  proof will be in the pudding, as we go out every

         11  four months and investigate whether or not children

         12  are able to buy mature- rated games, I think that

         13  will be the test of whether or not you have done a

         14  great job.  If, in fact, the goal is to prevent

         15  children from buying these games.

         16                 MS. VANCE:  This ad campaign is not

         17  meant to prevent children from buying games.  This

         18  ad campaign is meant to target parents who have

         19  kids, who may not be aware of the rating system, and

         20  we want to make sure that they use the rating

         21  system.  The focus of this ad campaign is towards

         22  parents, not to kids and not to retailers.  Same

         23  with the signage.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  I understand

         25  that, I agree, I understand that.  But just getting
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          2  back to my previous question, so you will not make

          3  your marketing, the focus groups, you will not make

          4  that available?

          5                 MS. VANCE:  You know, it is something

          6  we have never released.  I am happy to, you know, to

          7  talk about it, informally with you off- line, if you

          8  are really interested in learning more about how

          9  consumers react to the campaign.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  I think, and

         11  then I will wrap this, I will not ask another

         12  question.  I will conclude now, I would be

         13  interested in that, because I think, in fact, if the

         14  campaign, you know, does work, and if the marketing

         15  shows that, in fact, everything is in the up and up,

         16  I think you would rebut people who would criticize

         17  it for saying that that campaign gets people to buy

         18  video games more, and not less.  And that because,

         19  when we all look at advertising, we look at it only

         20  really for a quick second, the people are not

         21  sitting there reading the fine print, they are

         22  seeing the word, "Okay," which is again, at least

         23  double, perhaps triple the font than everything else

         24  on that advertisement.  And it is okay to play, and

         25  it is not saying, check, parents you should check
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          2  out the rating, it is saying, it is okay to play.

          3                 MS. VANCE:  Actually, the signage

          4  does say check the ratings.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  No, no, I

          6  know.  My point is, my point is that not what it

          7  specifically says, but the message that is received

          8  as someone flips through a magazine or walks into a

          9  store.  The fact that that is the okay.

         10                 And I would be curious what your data

         11  showed.  In fact, if your data showed that that was

         12  what it does, I think, it would, obviously, be a

         13  huge problem that you move forward with that

         14  campaign.

         15                 MS. VANCE:  I would be happy to meet

         16  with you separately off-line to discuss the

         17  research.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Thank you very

         19  much, and thank you for coming down today.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, Council

         21  member. Council Member Brewer.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you.

         23  Two questions, one is, I know the previous speaker

         24  talked about the State of Washington and the

         25  campaign there, and felt that it had not been
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          2  successful.  Were any of you involved in that, is

          3  there something we could learn, do you feel it was

          4  successful or not?

          5                 MS. VANCE:  In the "Game Smart

          6  Campaign?"

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Yes.

          8                 MS. VANCE:  Were you involved with

          9  that?

         10                 MS. MARKELS:  No.  We were never

         11  approached to participate in it.  And when I looked

         12  at bits of it, it was very critical of the industry,

         13  so it was hard to embrace a campaign that was

         14  critical of your industry.  I have looked at it

         15  briefly, and it did not say anything positive about

         16  our industry.  It just, my recollection, I do not

         17  have it in front of me in months, was that it was

         18  one negative statement after another.

         19                 We would be happy to work with the

         20  City Council maybe, but I think our industry has

         21  done a lot of positive things, and we cannot embrace

         22  this, this is a campaign that is totally critical of

         23  our industry.

         24                 MS. VANCE:  I was not consulted on

         25  it.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, so the

          3  retail industry was not part of that?

          4                 MS. SYLLA:  I believe, she was

          5  referring to with the Washington State Retailers.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Yes.

          7                 MS. VANCE:  The Mavia.

          8                 MS. MARKELS:  The Game Smart.

          9                 MS. SYLLA:  Oh, the Mavia, okay.

         10  Well some of our retailers got the stickers, a few

         11  of them took the "Get Smart," but most of them, I

         12  know one of our retailers were bad thing, they are

         13  already using ESRB Rating System, and found that the

         14  ESRB's materials were a little more comprehensive,

         15  and that they were going to be using the ESRB's

         16  materials and not Mavia.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  So more to be

         18  discussed.

         19                 In terms of the, in New York, are

         20  there any, I know we heard earlier from the

         21  Department of Consumer Affairs, for a whole series

         22  of reasons, they believe they cannot enforced,

         23  because it is not their system, and on and on; but

         24  what do you do, if in fact, a retailer, I am not

         25  talking about parents now, but I am looking at a
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          2  system that targets retailers, what do you do for

          3  penalties if they ignore what you are suggesting?  I

          4  know that there may not be anything you can do

          5  legally, but is there something you do, to try to

          6  get participation, and if there is no participation,

          7  do you do anything?

          8                 MS. SYLLA:  Well, right now the

          9  retailers are feeling a lot of the pressure from, in

         10  Washington, so that is there incentive, and as well

         11  as New York City.  And right now, they are trying to

         12  get on the ball with increasing the signage and

         13  putting the enforcement policy in place.  And so

         14  that is what we are doing right now.  Just trying to

         15  make sure everyone is up and ready, and that - -

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  So they are

         17  not - -

         18                 MS. SYLLA: - -  you know, the policy

         19  is in place.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  They are not

         21  suspended from the Association, or anything like

         22  that?

         23                 MS. SYLLA:  No, it goes a little bit

         24  deeper than that, because there are some anti-trust

         25  implications involved.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  All right.

          3  The other question I have is, I feel that the rating

          4  system is confusing. Maybe it's because as a parent

          5  I was not as aware of it as I should have been,

          6  because the "T" for instance, I find confusing. And

          7  I say that also, because I wanted to understand, not

          8  taking too long, because I know that time is of the

          9  essence here.  But how does that rating system

         10  evolve, was that something you have mirrored on the

         11  movies, or was there some other way?  Because there

         12  was some discussion on an earlier brainstorming on

         13  this that, you know, this is different than the

         14  movies.  Why is it different, just in terms of the

         15  letters, for lack of a better word, and also when we

         16  saw this Harvard School of Public Health Study, I

         17  guess they rated some of their "T" videos in a

         18  certain way.  And I know that the ESRB rated them in

         19  a different way.  And I just did not know if you had

         20  any comment on that, or how you are working with

         21  some of the other outside entities who are also

         22  focusing on this topic?

         23                 MS. VANCE:  Okay there are two parts

         24  to that question, I will try to answer them both.  I

         25  was not there at the beginning of the creation of
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          2  the rating system.  I do know that they tried to

          3  listen to consumers about what they wanted, what

          4  kind of information they wanted from video game

          5  manufacturers, both on the packaging, as well as in

          6  the advertising.  And it became very clear that the

          7  content descriptors were as equally important as the

          8  age appropriate rating symbols.  And that the rating

          9  symbols they felt needed to be, needed to stand for

         10  the age ranges that they applied to.  So they

         11  created a rating system from the ground up that had

         12  two parts, the content descriptors, and the rating

         13  symbols.  And the rating symbols reflected age

         14  ranges, which is not what the MPAA system does, you

         15  know, it is PG, and R, so it does not necessarily

         16  refer to specific ages.

         17                 So, you know, Teen does not

         18  typically, you know, create confusion for us.  I

         19  mean, I am sure that there are others who feel the

         20  same way as you.  It is a new system.  It is much

         21  younger than the MPAA system.  We have to work

         22  harder and try harder to make sure that consumers

         23  are aware.  I know Councilman Gioia stated a 55

         24  percent awareness.  I do not know where that

         25  statistic comes from, but I think it is probably
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          2  more like tow thirds or three- quarters of parents

          3  of kids who purchase video games, are aware of the

          4  rating system.

          5                 I am going to get to the Teen Study

          6  that you referred to that recently came out, out of

          7  Harvard.  What that study was is it did not question

          8  the Teen Rating, what it did was question whether or

          9  not content descriptors appeared every time a

         10  specific piece of content was in a game.  It went

         11  back to the very beginning of the rating system.  It

         12  took games from 2001, all the way back to 1994, when

         13  the rating system, a) did not have as many content

         14  descriptors as it does today; and b) when it limited

         15  the number of content descriptors to 3, because it

         16  did not want to overwhelm consumers with information

         17  on the box.

         18                 So those two factors were very

         19  important in terms of how a product, how effectively

         20  or completely content was labored. But if you really

         21  look at the instances of content that, that study

         22  referred to, 73 percent of the time we actually did

         23  have content.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I am going to have

         25  to ask that both the questions and the answers get a
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          2  lot briefer.

          3                 MS. VANCE:  She asked a long

          4  question, I had to try to answer it as well as I

          5  could.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I am just asking

          7  us all to be aware of what time it is.

          8                 MS. VANCE:  I will try.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  We still have some

         10  other people, this is not the only hearing we are

         11  having.  So if your answer could be briefer, it

         12  would be appreciated.

         13                 MS. VANCE:  I will try.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  One question,

         15  are there any goals that the industry has for

         16  compliance in New York City, and do you spend money

         17  for research on this topic?

         18                 MS. MARKELS:  We would like

         19  compliance to increase dramatically.  I think, our

         20  industry is less than 10 years old, and our program

         21  here is about a year old for increased enforcement,

         22  contrasting, that is the film industry, which is

         23  about over 40 years old, and even the film industry

         24  where a ticket clerk sells a ticket to one product,

         25  a movie, their enforcement level is barely above 50
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          2  percent, after 40 years.  We want to keep raising

          3  our enforcement level, I would like it to be 100

          4  percent.

          5                 My son went to the movies a couple of

          6  weeks ago, and he got turned away from an R- rated

          7  movie, I thought that was great. And I think the

          8  same thing should happen when he goes to Best Buy

          9  without me.  Although, since he is 14, and he is not

         10  going to spend the $60 on his own or whatever store.

         11    I know it is a little bit different in New York

         12  City, but we want to get enforcement to equal or

         13  above what the film industry has.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Right,

         15  dollars for research for social science, are you

         16  doing any of that?

         17                 MS. MARKELS:  What kind of research

         18  are you talking about?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I do not

         20  know, it is science, social science research on this

         21  topic, are you using any of your funds to pay for

         22  that?  No, yes?

         23                 MS. MARKELS:  Well I am not sure, I

         24  still do not know what you mean by social science,

         25  but I would say that any social science research we
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          2  do, if I think I understand what you mean, the

          3  results would be, if you came to one conclusion,

          4  they would be suspect, and - -

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.

          6                 MS. VANCE:  We do conduct consumer

          7  research, if that is what you mean.  We conduct

          8  research on whether or not Americans agree with our

          9  rating system.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Right, no.

         11                 MS. VANCE:  We do that every year.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.

         13                 MS. VANCE:  We do awareness research,

         14  as well, every year.  So there is research that we

         15  do, but I do not know if that qualifies for what you

         16  are referring to.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

         18  very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, Council

         20  members.  What is the mark up on these videos, what

         21  is the cost of production as opposed to the sale,

         22  the retail price.

         23                 MS. MARKELS:  At a trade association

         24  we do not have those kind of sales and mark up

         25  figure, I do not know.  I do not know.

                                                            137

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well there has to

          3  be some profitability where somebody at that table

          4  is aware of the profitability.  You are not going to

          5  sell something that is lost.

          6                 MS. MARKELS:  I would hope that

          7  anybody who is in a business that does not go

          8  bankrupt, makes a profit.  I do not know what the

          9  profit is on a video game or a computer games.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  There is nobody at

         11  this table that can give me an average idea of what

         12  the mark up, what the profitability of these video

         13  games is?

         14                 MS. VANCE:  Well do not forget, it is

         15  almost irrelevant what the cost of goods is versus

         16  the actual manufacturers' suggested retail price,

         17  because publishers are now spending five, ten,

         18  fifteen million dollars to create a video game up

         19  front.  So the cost to actually press a disc, or

         20  create a box, is, you know, not particularly

         21  relevant when you have got a $15 million investment

         22  in a product.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I think what I

         24  really meant was that you have just told me, you

         25  have answered the question.  If you are spending
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          2  five or ten million dollars to create this, than

          3  obviously, there is a huge profit in it.  I may not

          4  be talking about creating the specific box, and the

          5  plastic that goes in it. But anybody that has worked

          6  in private sector and marketing something, you know

          7  what your product cost you, and you know what you

          8  sell it for.  And if you could do simply math, you

          9  could figure out its profitability.

         10                 So I am not going to play games here

         11  with you around words.  I am asking you, if anybody

         12  would like to give us an idea of the percentage of

         13  profit on this product?

         14                 MS. VANCE:  I think it would vary by

         15  product.  You have to spend, you have to sell --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well the specific

         17  product that we are talking about right now are

         18  these violent video games, that is what we are

         19  talking about.

         20                 MS. VANCE:  And not all- violent

         21  video games sell the same number of units, and they

         22  do not cost - -

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, why don't I

         24  ask if there is anybody else at the table that would

         25  have that information?
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          2                 MR. ZAPF:  My company is not one of

          3  the members who sells video games, so I would only

          4  be able to speak on behalf of my company.  I am not

          5  privileged to what the mark up would be for other

          6  members.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I would be happy

          8  to hear what your thoughts might be on that

          9  question.

         10                 MR. ZAPF:  We do not sell them.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay.  Ms. Sylla.

         12                 MS. SYLLA:  I do not have that

         13  information.  But I will tell you this, the sale of

         14  M- rated games has dropped from 13.2 percent to 11.9

         15  percent for 2003.  And I think, Gail had mentioned

         16  it before that the majority of the games that are

         17  being sold are, the majority of the games that are

         18  rated that are being sold are E rated games.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I cannot hear you,

         20  I am sorry.

         21                 MS. SYLLA:  I said the majority of

         22  games that are actually out there are E- rated

         23  games, not mature- rated games.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  But a number of

         25  these games are causing the industry to have losses,
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          2  are they?  Everything you sell is profitable, right?

          3                 MS. MARKELS:  I think it would be

          4  fair to say that, no, not everything we sell is

          5  profitable.  Probably more titles are unprofitable

          6  than are profitable.  We do not have those

          7  statistics with us.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  But somewhere in

          9  the industry than we know that what titles are the

         10  most profitable.

         11                 MS. MARKELS:  Well I think it is fair

         12  to say, and I have a list of the top 10, I have a

         13  list of the top 20 computer and video games for

         14  2003.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  That is the most

         16  popular.  I am asking for the most profitable.

         17                 MS. MARKELS:  Well you know that is

         18  proprietor information, as a trade association, I

         19  would never have that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well that is a

         21  better answer than the rest of that mambo jumbo that

         22  got served up here.

         23                 MS. MARKELS:  That is something we

         24  never --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  That is, at least,
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          2  an answer, it is proprietary.  The rest of it was

          3  all mambo jumbo.  So, and you may not want to tell

          4  me that, but you are saying that the most popular

          5  games are the ones that you have mentioned earlier.

          6                 MS. MARKELS:  Madden, Pokemon, Need

          7  for Speed, Zelda.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So on that scale

          9  where does the one that seems to be the poster child

         10  for bad taste, what is called again, Grand Theft,

         11  right.

         12                 MS. MARKELS:  It is number 17.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  In popularity.

         14                 MS. MARKELS:  Oh, I am sorry, there

         15  are two of them number six and number 7.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Oh, number 6 and

         17  number 7, okay, I see.

         18                 When we met, I met with some folks

         19  from the industry, and we were talking about what

         20  the industry could do proactively, and there was a

         21  great deal of discussion about offering incentives

         22  to retailers for participating in the rating system

         23  or carding, et cetera, et cetera.  And I think, I

         24  was not here, but from the context that I heard, a

         25  retailer can voluntarily refuse to sell something to
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          2  a minor.  Is that correct?

          3                 In other words, you do not have to,

          4  but you are saying that the First Amendment - -  I

          5  see some heads in the back going like this.

          6                 MS. MARKELS:  A retailer can sell or

          7  withhold sales. It is when the government gets

          8  involved and tells the retailers they can - -

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well we are just

         10  dealing with the retailers.  So what we talked, and

         11  I was told, at least, in my office that that was a

         12  wonderful idea, and then by the time we got to this

         13  hearing, you would have some ideas about potential

         14  incentives for retailers to more aggressively

         15  participate in the ratings, and letting people be

         16  aware, and in monitoring who purchases it.  So, here

         17  is the hearing, and anybody got an idea? You all

         18  look like you are blank, nobody mentioned that we

         19  had this conversation?

         20                 MS. MARKELS:  With all due respect, I

         21  was at that meeting and my recollection is that we

         22  talked of how we can get information out into the

         23  community.  We talked about things like getting

         24  information about the ESRB Web Site, the ESRB on the

         25  Board of Edema - -
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You do not

          3  remember the conversation about offering retailers

          4  incentives to participate.

          5                 MS. MARKELS:  I do not, Sir.  I

          6  remember talking about working with the independents

          7  through some of our sales channels to get

          8  information about the ESRB.  I am sorry, if I have

          9  forgotten, but that does not, I did not - -

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, well that is

         11  fair enough. When we have the next hearing, hear me

         12  clearly now, what we have asked, what I am asking of

         13  the industry, since you are resting your case

         14  ultimately on the First Amendment, which we are all

         15  thankful to have it, even though our Attorney

         16  General seems to want to snatch it away from a great

         17  deal of people, but that is another issue.  The one

         18  of the United States, you know the one I am talking

         19  about, Ashcroft, that is the one I am talking about.

         20    But you all, I am sure, have yours protected, and

         21  that is a good thing.

         22                 What I said and what I am saying now,

         23  is that it would be interesting to hear from this

         24  industry that feels that it cannot possibly stop the

         25  sale of this stuff, nor does it have to. But they

                                                            144

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  love to do all this, "Okay to Play," that is the

          3  parent. The other side of it is to potentially look

          4  at what incentives the manufacturer, the

          5  distributors of this, of the videos, might offer for

          6  people to be more in compliance with what it is that

          7  everybody has said we would like to see.  So you

          8  have an opportunity to present us with incentives,

          9  whether it is a discount on the sale, the purchase

         10  of these at the whole sale price, rewards,

         11  incentives.

         12                 I was in sales for 18 years, I

         13  understand the word incentive.  So we are going to

         14  have another hearing.  And is the question clear

         15  now, does everybody know what the question is? Okay.

         16

         17                 It would be great to hear, when we

         18  come back, because we are talking about, and I am

         19  being sincere now, about working together.  Because

         20  we are going to find some way to pass some

         21  legislation, I can assure you that we are not just

         22  going to go away with our tail tucked in here, and

         23  say, well, there is nothing we can do.  Because we

         24  are hearing from our constituents, we are seeing it

         25  ourselves, we are concerned, and we are going to
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          2  continue to try to look at an avenue, obviously,

          3  that is constitutionally defensible, to limit, if

          4  not prohibit, or at least modify the instant access

          5  that our children have to these videos.

          6                 So, you are insisting on saying

          7  something else?

          8                 MS. VANCE:  I want to add something

          9  where I think maybe there has been a

         10  miscommunication.  The training program, the quiz

         11  that I referred to earlier that some retailers have

         12  been using, that sometimes, some retailers use that

         13  quiz as a way to conspif (phonetic) store

         14  associates.  It could have been interpreted in the

         15  meeting.  I was not at the meeting, but if that

         16  program was discussed, it could have been

         17  interpreted as that being the incentive.  Okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  No, I do not think

         19  that, no, that was not it.  But we will look forward

         20  when we have the next hearing.  Thank you very much

         21  for coming.

         22                 We do need to move along, and we are

         23  planning a second hearing, give me just a moment.

         24  What we are going to try to do, because we need to

         25  be, we actually are supposed to be out of here now,
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          2  we are going to hear from Frank Madison, Jr., Gary

          3  Brouse, and Sister Claire Regan.

          4                 And I would like to ask those who are

          5  hear, in relationship to the First Amendment that if

          6  you want to give us your testimony, we will accept

          7  that.  And then at the next hearing you will be the

          8  first people to testify, because we cannot do you

          9  justice with that issue in the five minutes that we

         10  are going to have hear it.  But we would like to

         11  have the testimony so that the Committee staff can

         12  review that, and then I promise you that when we

         13  have the next hearing, you will be the first people

         14  to testify. So apologize, I hope you have found the

         15  rest of this useful, but I am trying to get us all

         16  moved along here, okay, thank you.

         17                 Welcome.  Well, I think I called Mr.

         18  Madison first. Oh, you are Mr. Madison, I turned

         19  myself around here.  Please, identify yourself for

         20  the record, and give us your testimony.

         21                 MR. MADISON:  My name is Franklin

         22  Madison.  I wear two hats, I am a Dad and I actually

         23  play a lot of these video games with my 13- year-

         24  old son.  And I am also the Technology Program

         25  Director for a not- for- profit that deals with
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          2  economic development in the City called, ITAC.

          3                 I am going to cut my testimony short

          4  and stipulate, you know, with the Council that I

          5  agree with Council Member Clarke and with everyone

          6  else that has said, you know, basically, that "Grand

          7  Theft Auto," and what happened in that game and what

          8  was said, is vile and reprehensible.  It is just

          9  completely unacceptable in a civilized society.

         10                 I equated the game, when I talked to

         11  my son about it, to D.W. Griffin's, "Birth of a

         12  Nation," which is basically one of the most vile

         13  films ever made, yet, you can still buy it on

         14  Amazon.com right now, and there is no age check for

         15  whether or not a person can buy that.

         16                 So I say all of this to say that it

         17  is the interactivity of the games that is a problem.

         18    The ability to decide an action or reaction based

         19  upon a given set of parameters is disturbing when

         20  the choices that are given include killing people

         21  and anti- special behavior.  And I want to just let

         22  you know I come out in opposition to 18 and 60, and

         23  I will tell you why.

         24                 Basically, I am a parent, and so is

         25  Free More Agents, it is up to me to decide in my
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          2  home, you know, what can be seen and what cannot be

          3  seen, and what can be played with.  It is part of my

          4  job as a parent to monitor what comes into the

          5  house, if I find it objectionable, to eliminate it

          6  from the house.

          7                 In this case, we still have it in the

          8  home, and I will tell you why.  My son played it

          9  with friends prior to my even knowing about the

         10  game.  We brought it home, we played it, we found it

         11  vile, we found it reprehensible.  After that we had

         12  an open discussion about it, and that is where

         13   "Birth of a Nation," and some of the other things

         14  came up in the discussion.  In that same discussion,

         15  my son and I talked about how can we change this.

         16  And the changing of this goes down to what so many

         17  other industries have done in this country, you have

         18  the film industry, which just now is beginning to be

         19  somewhat inclusion, but not totally there yet.

         20                 This is a young industry, and I think

         21  we can all work together to change it.  They are

         22  young minds in the driver's seat, and some of these

         23  minds have a different perception of what is right

         24  and wrong, and what is offensive to some and not to

         25  others.  This industry is driven by people who live
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          2  in the main stream, and not by the people of color,

          3  who are mostly the purchasers of this --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Can you hold on

          5  for just a second?

          6                 MR. MADISON:  Sure.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Can we get

          8  everything we are doing done?  You are all right

          9  now?  Okay.  I am sorry.

         10                 MR. MADISON:  That is okay.  My

         11  folks, people of color, are mostly on the purchasing

         12  side of this equation.  What I would prefer to do

         13  with this argument work to see how we can change

         14  this.  It is a perception, it is also an issue where

         15  in this industry has put itself in a position where

         16  it is being vilified because of this bad seed, as

         17  the Councilwoman said earlier, there are some bad

         18  companies here.

         19                 So what do we do?  We can educate

         20  ourselves about the industry's built- in mechanisms

         21  like the ESRB, which we are doing today.  We can

         22  enlighten and educate the industry, and I think this

         23  Council has the power to enlighten and educate this

         24  industry about what is in fact wrong, and how we can

         25  work together to solve some of these issues.
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          2                 I think the other thing this Council

          3  can do, is help put some solutions on the table to

          4  see how we can get more developers of color, people

          5  with more divergent viewpoints.  I think part of

          6  what the Council can do, is look at other types of

          7  industries, on other types of things that are

          8  happening in this industry that is very useful.

          9  There is a program out of Cornell University called

         10  the "Game Development: The Game Design Initiative,"

         11  where it is a part of the teaching of this

         12  technology and how to create these games.  There is

         13  a sensitivity piece where it talks about how to

         14  respect other cultures and what should be seen and

         15  viewed in this process.

         16                 The other piece is, that parents, as

         17  I said earlier, really need to take a role in this.

         18  But I want to tell the Council where this industry

         19  is going, and the reason why I think these laws will

         20  not work.  If you look at what is happening with the

         21  recording industry,  the recording industry has lost

         22  millions of dollars based upon the advances that

         23  have been made in technology.

         24                 In my hat, as Technology Program

         25  Director for ITAC, I look at emerging technologies.
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          2  And one thing that is going to effect this industry

          3  is the fact that so many other industries, because

          4  right now there is an underground movement where

          5  people are actually working with some of the code in

          6  some of these games. They are able to transfer some

          7  of this online.

          8                 So going back to the Council is this

          9  earlier, these vile companies that deal with this

         10  subversive hatred type of technology, they are going

         11  to be there.  So I think how we go up against that,

         12  will be by putting more people of color in the

         13  industry, by educating our people that are not just

         14  playing with it, but how you build it, what goes

         15  behind it.

         16                 And also telling you guys what the

         17  technology is that is under it.  A lot of the

         18  technology that is behind this, and yes, this is a

         19  billion dollar industry, there is a lot of money

         20  being made here.  The number of non- entertainment

         21  games in development is rapidly increasing.  The

         22  appreciation for ideas, skills, technologies, and

         23  techniques used in commercial entertainment games is

         24  an all time high.  Many commercial games are all

         25  ready in use for purposes other than entertainment.

                                                            152

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  Titles such as "Sin City," "Civilization," "Hidden

          3  Agenda," and others have been used as learning tools

          4  in schools and universities across the globe.  In

          5  organized industries emerging where development

          6  studios skilled with using cutting- edge

          7  entertainment technologies, are using these skills

          8  to solve problems in areas as diverse as education,

          9  health care, national defense, homeland security,

         10  analytics, corporate management, artificial

         11  intelligence, and robotics.  That is some of the

         12  underlying technology that is actually in these

         13  video games that came out of this movement.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Sir, I need you to

         15  wrap up your testimony.

         16                 MR. MADISON:  So I was just trying to

         17  say that there are things that can be done to

         18  educate and improve this industry. One of the things

         19  that I am working with the industry on doing is to

         20  get these companies to put some funding into

         21  initiatives that could help schools, and help teach

         22  young urban kids, not only how to play these things,

         23  how you make, so they can put their own ideas in the

         24  forefront.

         25                 So I think these are some of the
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          2  things we can do to work together to ensure this

          3  happens.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  Sister

          5  Claire.

          6                 SR. CLAIRE REGAN:  Thank you.  My

          7  name is Sister Claire Regan, and I am a Sister of

          8  Charity of New York.  We are members of the

          9  Interfaith Center on Corporate Responsibility, and I

         10  assist in the Violence and Militarization of Society

         11  Working Group.  I speak to you today as a religious

         12  investor, especially on the matter of retailers and

         13  their role in the disposition and sale of video

         14  games.

         15                 I am deeply concerned about the

         16  prevalence of violence in our society and violet

         17  images in our media.  Children from an early age

         18  formed by images, often graphic, of mortal combat

         19  and sexual activity.  Rating systems exist for

         20  television and movies, which have existed for years,

         21  and which were supported by broad- based gait

         22  efforts to educate the public as to their use.  In

         23  the video/computer games industry we have an

         24  industry- based voluntary ratings system that does

         25  little to reach beyond the scale of the major
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          2  retailers.

          3                 The FTC study in June, 2002, found

          4  that retailers allowed 69 percent of unaccompanied

          5  minors aged 13 to 16 to purchase games rated by

          6  Mature by the ESRB.  As concerned consumers and as

          7  government we must do all that we can to assure

          8  retailers do not continue to afford such easy access

          9  to violence for our youth. Though retailers freely

         10  admit to having carding system, policies, signs, and

         11  labels in place, the key question is how well are

         12  these policies enforced by the company, how

         13  completely and regularly are they audited for policy

         14  compliance?  The Council's own report of last

         15  December showed that compliance other be abysmal.

         16  When 34 of 35 underage consumers can purchase

         17  materials that are patently for adult viewing only,

         18  I feel we have fallen short of our moral and

         19  societal obligations to protect and guide that

         20  development of our children.

         21                 Retailers must be required to

         22  properly post their ratings information and

         23  policies.  They must be required to separate for

         24  sales purposes, materials rated Mature or Adult

         25  Only. These displays, if not locked, should clearly
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          2  be out of the reach of younger consumers who often

          3  buy these games unescorted by a parent.  Retailers

          4  should be required to do their share to educate the

          5  public on the rating system, and to work to assist

          6  the rating system's updating and designs planned for

          7  the 2004 Christmas Season.

          8                 The City's Consumer Affairs

          9  Department must enforced "carding" systems, which

         10  allegedly are in place to prevent illegal sales.

         11  Just as tobacco and alcohol sales age restrictions

         12  are required to be posted and subject to audit, so

         13  should the sales of video games with violence and

         14  sexual content be monitored.  How companies market

         15  their video games is an important area for

         16  government oversight.  Beyond product placement

         17  decisions, questions about pricing, promotion,

         18  advertising outlets and messages require some degree

         19  of societal accountability.

         20                 I will divest from my remarks to say

         21  as shareholders there are three major strategies we

         22  use in relating to corporations.

         23                 The first and strongest is letter

         24  writing campaign. Secondary, is engaging the

         25  companies in dialogue.  And the third, and the one

                                                            156

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  we hold back that holds the strongest hope for, is

          3  the shareholder resolution.

          4                 Our concern is we need to partner

          5  with you on this, because under the rubric of

          6  ordinary business the SCC will not give us much

          7  chance in getting a resolution to the floor in any

          8  of these corporations and companies.  So we need to

          9  partner with you as concerned citizens writing

         10  letters, meeting with companies, asking them the

         11  questions.  And I know that Mr. Brouse will relate

         12  some of those letter responses we have gotten from

         13  corporations.  But we need to ally together on this

         14  matter.

         15                 And to conclude, we need to mentor

         16  our youth and agenda in their development a healthy

         17  perspective on peacemaking and alternatives to

         18  violence.  This City Council in passing these

         19  measures could go a long way in its role to

         20  safeguard the growth of our youth and the enrichment

         21  of our society.  I commend you for sincerity in

         22  these measures, your comprehensive approach, and

         23  your detailed analysis of the scope of the problem.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         25  much, I think that is very compelling testimony.  I
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          2  appreciate it.

          3                 Mr. Brouse, am I saying that

          4  correctly?

          5                 MR. BROUSE:  Yes, you are.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

          7                 MR. BROUSE:  First of all, I want to

          8  congratulate the New York City Council for the work

          9  they are doing on this issue.  It has certainly

         10  given us the opportunity to speak out on this issue.

         11    And we are appreciative of the report that you

         12  came out, because that is the report we took to the

         13  companies where we have investments.  My

         14  responsibility at ICCR is I am the Director of

         15  Corporate Governance, and what that means is that I

         16  socially do an analysis of corporations ability for

         17  accountability in its management staff and its Board

         18  of Directors.

         19                 And we have written several letters

         20  to corporations, retail companies that belong in

         21  this industry that sell these video games, which is

         22  a lot of misunderstanding is that a lot of these

         23  companies do not realize what the content of these

         24  video games are. When we talked to one company, a

         25  retail company, and we talked to the senior
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          2  executives about this, we seen a copy of the video

          3  tape, similar to the one you looked at today, and

          4  the executives that were marketing and purchasing

          5  was in that room, they were both shocked to see the

          6  content of these video games.  They had no idea, and

          7  these were games that were in their stores and are

          8  presently selling.

          9                 What I found disturbing with these

         10  retail companies is that once they did see the

         11  shocking values that were in these video games, they

         12  still did not pull them off the shelves.  And one of

         13  the things that I have witnessed today is the same

         14  things that we have experienced, and that is in

         15  responsibility here.  It seems like we are playing a

         16  new version of the old game of passing the buck.

         17  Nobody wants to take responsibility for dealing with

         18  these violent video games.

         19                 When you talk to developers, they say

         20  we do not sell them.  When you talk to people who

         21  license these games, they say they do not develop

         22  them.  When you talk to the retailers about these

         23  games, they say, we did not develop them.  Everybody

         24  wants to pass the buck, and nobody wants to take the

         25  responsibility.
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          2                 And one of the things that we do in

          3  our organization is that we try to find out who is

          4  accountable, and that seems to be very difficult

          5  right here, to find out where is the accountability

          6  going to fall.  A lot of people want to pass them

          7  onto the parents, and we think that is unfair.  Even

          8  the FTC Commissioner, Orson Swindle (phonetic) said,

          9  that way you are going to deal with this issue is,

         10  do not buy them.  Well everybody does not have that

         11  choice to make their voice heard.  As investors, we

         12  have long- term investments with these companies.

         13  It is very difficult for us to say, okay, we will

         14  deal with this issue by not buying them.  It is also

         15  difficult because there are not that many

         16  alternatives where we can put our investments.

         17  Because this industry is very widespread, we are now

         18  finding these video games in grocery stores, in gas

         19  stations, this is an industry- wide issue.

         20                 One of the things that I wanted to

         21  point out was, is that even the Administration here

         22  was not willing to take on some responsibility, and

         23  they said they could not enforced it.  But yet, they

         24  were not going to take on responsibility, maybe the

         25  Mayor made one- day comment about the Haitians and
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          2  the violence in that game, but where is the long-

          3  term commitment to this?  If he is so outraged, why

          4  isn't he doing more about it.

          5                 I want to tell you that, for the

          6  record, that the first violent video game of this

          7  type that came out, very little was said about it.

          8  It was called, "Custard Revenge."  And I am from the

          9  American- Indian Community, and I cannot tell you

         10  what it is like to be targeted in these videos.  And

         11  a lot of times that you see these videos where there

         12  are adults in it, let me tell you, that gets down to

         13  the children.  Because in the Indian Community where

         14  the Entertainment Industry has been irresponsible in

         15  this area, where we have been portrayed in our

         16  religion, in our tradition, in our culture, and even

         17  our leaders have been stereotyped by sports mascots.

         18    That gets down to our children, and I do not think

         19  that the people who work in this industry realize

         20  what it is like to be the target of these videos,

         21  especially when you see your children the target.

         22                 And I just think that what you are

         23  doing here we fully support.  And you have given us

         24  ammunition to go back to the retail companies in our

         25  dialogues, and to the shareholders with these
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          2  issues.  And I just hope that keep in your

          3  endeavors, and thank you very much for this

          4  opportunity.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well thank you all

          6  very much for your testimony.  And I am sorry for

          7  the lateness of the day, but I think all of you have

          8  added an interesting perspective to this, whether it

          9  is in the sense of using it as a teaching tool,

         10  because sometimes that is probably the most

         11  powerful.

         12                 MR. BROUSE:  Excuse me, could I just

         13  say one last thing?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yes.

         15                 MR. BROUSE:  And it is just a

         16  sentence.  The one thing that I think is going to

         17  work here is that we need an independent board to

         18  look at this.  And this has happened in the

         19  corporate world.  You had Texaco and Coke Cola where

         20  they had a problem with discrimination, they created

         21  a Board of company members and independent people

         22  from the outside to join together to deal with this

         23  issue.  I think that is what this industry needs. We

         24  do not need the industry watching the industry.  We

         25  need a combination of the community people and the
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          2  industry working together on this issue on an

          3  independent Board format, not being paid by --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I agree with you,

          5  Mr. Brouse.  In fact, one of the questions I wanted

          6  to ask the industry, and I will the next time, is,

          7  if they have this rating board, why don't they bring

          8  people from the outside to sit on the rating board.

          9  But all of your comments, all three of you, were

         10  very useful.

         11                 I can assure you that the Council is

         12  going to continue to pursue this, look at avenues to

         13  restrict the sale of it.  But also, as you said, to

         14  move forward with a campaign to get our parents and

         15  our constituents more aware of what is happening and

         16  get the Administration to be involved.

         17                 So I want to thank you all for

         18  coming, and I hope you will stay involved with what

         19  we are trying to do here.  Thank you all very much.

         20                 I am sorry, I beg your pardon,

         21  Council Member Clarke.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Mr. Chair,

         23  just a quick comment, I know time is of the essence.

         24    But I think it is important before we leave here

         25  today, I have heard a lot of people equate the video
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          2  game industry with perhaps the music industry or the

          3  movie industry, and I would like to just say one

          4  thing about this.  Because actually this was a point

          5  that Mr. Fabien brought to me that I really, because

          6  I am not a video game player myself, but the one

          7  thing that we do know about video games, is that it

          8  is a world unto itself that draws you into it.  It

          9  is truly interactive in every sense of the word.

         10                 And what makes it disturbing where

         11  violence is concerned is that unlike the other

         12  social norms where violence is concerned and you

         13  expect to be sanctioned for it, in video games, you

         14  are rewarded for it.  And the more violent you

         15  become, the more rewarded you become, the more

         16  points you make, the next level you get to.  And so

         17  it really sucks you into a whole other world.

         18                 I think this is definitely going to

         19  be a science as this industry grows older about the

         20  real effect of video games and its multi-

         21  dimensional, multi- faceted, interactivity and how

         22  it really impacts these.  I can walk away from a

         23  movie and you know years later maybe reflect on it.

         24  But to be able to sit down at a video game, pause

         25  it, come back to it, you know, and just regain and
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          2  recapture that at any moment, it is going to have

          3  some effects on us as a society, and I think that is

          4  going to reflect on us in some form or fashion,

          5  particularly, when you are impressionable.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, Council

          7  member.  Thank you, panelists.

          8                 Mr. Killian has insisted that he have

          9  a chance to speak because he has flown in here for

         10  this special occasion unannounced, and so, Mr.

         11  Killian, we appreciate that you came, but you are

         12  going to have two minutes.

         13                 MR. KILLIAN:  Two minutes, which way,

         14  on?  Well I had hoped to have some good news for the

         15  Council on both sides here today.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Would you state

         17  your name for the record, please?

         18                 MR. KILLIAN:  My name, for the

         19  record, is Seth Killian, I represent Shoryuken.com,

         20  which is an organization that runs tournaments for

         21  some of the most violent of these video games. And

         22  so I would like to speak to my 10- years of playing

         23  it.  I was a former championship player, and

         24  organizing these tournaments, and the realities on

         25  the street of what these players are actually like.
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          2                 These are intense events that will

          3  reduce players to yelling, even crying, they break

          4  down in tears.  But what they do not do, is get

          5  violent.  There have been zero violent incidents at

          6  any of our tournaments, at any of the tournaments of

          7  which I am aware.  These are the people who play

          8  more of these violent video games, are exposed to

          9  them from the youngest ages, play more of them than

         10  anybody play, play them more intensely, and yet,

         11  they do not get violent at any level.  And the

         12  tournaments are also sort of, I heard talk about

         13  racism here today, are shockingly, multi cultural

         14  across the board.  They are interracial, they are

         15  international, we had players from over 30 countries

         16  attend the last tournament.  People making friends

         17  across cultures, across socio- economic backgrounds,

         18  in ways you would not believe.  You have to see this

         19  event.

         20                 So my emerging here at the Council

         21  today, is that they come and sort of go full circle

         22  on the investigation.  Just do not stop at the

         23  horror of the scenes you see, see what the kids do

         24  with this.  What you will find is actually a vibrant

         25  community of players who are invested in these
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          2  events.  It is at the grassroots level, they support

          3  the community events with time investments, they

          4  support them with money, donations that they make

          5  themselves. It is a democratic community, they make

          6  decisions collectively to support the games and to

          7  play the games intensely and hard.  And violence

          8  does not enter it at any level of which we are

          9  aware. There is no evidence that there are more

         10  violent in any aspect of their lives.

         11                 The two top players from New York

         12  City are now an NBA student at NYU, and an options

         13  trader.  These are not sort of isolated sociopaths

         14  in the making.  Once you give people something they

         15  can become interested in and engaged in, they really

         16  pick it up and turn it into a community all their

         17  own.  And I think the reality is very much different

         18  than it appears that I think many of the Council

         19  members have expressed here today.

         20                 Thank you for allowing me this time.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And you have these

         22  conventions in various cities, and people fly in to

         23  go to these things?

         24                 MR. KILLIAN:  All over the world,

         25  they spend thousands of their own dollars to attend.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  To specifically

          3  play these ultra violent games?

          4                 MR. KILLIAN:  Yes, Sir.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well isn't the

          6  attraction the fact that it is ultra- violent?

          7                 MR. KILLIAN:  No, the attraction

          8  begins in the competitive element of the games, and

          9  the attraction becomes the friends and the community

         10  bond.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Isn't there some

         12  competitive element in some other game?

         13                 MR. KILLIAN:  There are many

         14  competitive elements, but if you look at the

         15  demographic that you are talking about, teen boys

         16  and men in their early 20s, what are they most

         17  attracted by, sports, things of that nature, sort of

         18  ritualized violence, that is the easiest form for

         19  this sort of type of thing.  And they certainly

         20  understand the difference between reality and the

         21  games. But the sort of the proof is in the pudding,

         22  look at the statistics, or rather the lack of

         23  statistics about the violent behavior that is

         24  actually there.

         25                 My experience, worst out of any of
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          2  the social science researchers, and these are good

          3  people, they are successful people in all walks of

          4  life.  They are managing a Blockbuster, they are in

          5  the Marines, they are lawyers.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well it would be

          7  useful if you let the people who are here in New

          8  York that participate in this, be aware that we are

          9  having hearings, we would like to hear from them.

         10                 MR. KILLIAN:  They were very

         11  interested in attending, they would like to come.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well, but they are

         13  not here, you flew in.

         14                 MR. KILLIAN:  That is true, many of

         15  them have prior commitments and we were worried

         16  about causing conflicts with school to attend

         17  something like that.

         18                 If you want, I will pack this place,

         19  say the word.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well we will be

         21  sure to stay in touch with you, we would like to, I

         22  think that would be an interesting thing to have

         23  that, I would like to hear their point of view.

         24                 MR. KILLIAN:  I think you would be

         25  surprised.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  All right, thank

          3  you very much for your testimony.

          4                 MR. KILLIAN:  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you all, and

          6  we will be setting the hearing date in the next week

          7  or so, so you can stay in touch with the Committee.

          8  Thank you all, this hearing is adjourned.

          9                 (Hearing adjourned at 4:25 p.m.)

         10                 (The following testimony was read

         11  into the record.)

         12

         13  Testimony of:

         14  Marjorie Heins

         15  Director

         16  Free Expression Policy Project

         17                 Good afternoon, and thank you for the

         18  opportunity to address you today on the subject of

         19  violent video games.  My name is Marjorie Heins and

         20  I direct the Free Expression Policy Project, a think

         21  tank whose goal is to make resources and information

         22  available on the difficult policy issues that we as

         23  a society face in the area of free expression.

         24                 In a former life, I was an attorney

         25  at the American Civil Liberties Union, specializing
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          2  in First Amendment cases. Intrigued by the common

          3  assumption that censorship is necessary to "protect"

          4  children and adolescents from art and entertainment

          5  that is considered unsuitable for them, I left the

          6  ACLU in 1998 to write a book exploring the subject.

          7  It is called, "Not in Front of the Children:

          8   "Indecency," Censorship, and the Innocence of

          9  Youth."

         10                 In conducting research for "Not in

         11  Front of the Children," I had an "Emperor's New

         12  Clothes" experience.  That is, after reviewing the

         13  many studies, articles, and reports documenting

         14  efforts by psychologists since the 1950s to

         15  establish a casual link between "media violent" and

         16  aggressive behavior, I discovered that despite many

         17  claims over the years of proven adverse effects, the

         18  research is actually inconclusive.  Most studies do

         19  not show a casual relationship, and the minority

         20  that do have highly dubious measures of "aggression"

         21  and have manipulated statistics shamelessly to reach

         22  their preordained conclusions.

         23                 There is not time here today to

         24  detail or even summarize this vast social science

         25  literature on media violence; for that, I suggest
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          2  that you read a "friend of the court" brief filed by

          3  33 media scholars in a recent case from St. Louis,

          4  in which a federal appeals court struck down an

          5  ordinance very similar to Introduction No. 18, which

          6  is before you today.  The brief is available on the

          7  Free Expression Policy Project Web site

          8  (www.fepproject.org), and I have also appended

          9  copies to this testimony.

         10                 I was not alone, incidentally, in

         11  discovering that the "Emperor" has no clothes; it is

         12  also a phenomenon experienced by psychologists who

         13  have looked impartially at the subject of media

         14  violence research.  For example, in the 1980s

         15  psychologist Joyce Sprafkin decided to review all of

         16  the media violence literature after she conducted

         17  experiments which, to her surprise, found more

         18  aggressive behavior by children after watching Mr.

         19  Rogers' Neighborhood and Sesame Street.  Sprafkin

         20  found that field studies "did not support a special

         21  significance for aggressive television" as a cause

         22  of aggressive behavior.

         23                 Nothing has happened since then to

         24  change Sprafkin's conclusion.  Despite the claims we

         25  often hear that new research has somehow
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          2  conclusively established what for 30 years was

          3  inconclusive, recent experiments, whether with TV,

          4  movies, or video games, are just as ambiguous as

          5  earlier ones, and overall, the findings are

          6  negative.  As the British psychologist Guy

          7  Cumberbatch commented:

          8                  "The real puzzle is that anyone

          9  looking at the research evidence in this field could

         10  draw any conclusions about the pattern, let alone

         11  argue with such confidence and even passion that it

         12  demonstrates the harm of violence on television, in

         13  film and in video games...If one conclusion is

         14  possible, it is that the jury is not still out.  It

         15  is never been in.  Media violence has been subjected

         16  to lynch mob mentality with almost any evidence used

         17  to prove guilt.

         18                 Or, as our Federal Trade Commission

         19  concluded in its recent report on marketing violent

         20  entertainment: No firm conclusions about adverse

         21  effects can be drawn from media violence research.

         22                 Why, then, you may ask, do many

         23  psychologists and professional associations continue

         24  to claim that "thousands" of studies prove harm from

         25  media violence?  The answer, as given in a moment of
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          2  candor by Dr. Edward Hill, chair- elect of the

          3  American Medical Association, at a panel discussion

          4  in May 2001, is that there are "political reasons"

          5  for groups like the AMA to take this position.  The

          6  AMA "is sometimes used by the politicians," Dr. Hill

          7  explained.  "We try to balance that because we try

          8  to use them also."

          9                 And what are the political reason for

         10  the continuing appeal of the media violence issue?

         11  My conclusion, after studying the history of this

         12  phenomenon, is that periodic calls to censor

         13  symbolic representations of violence in art and

         14  entertainment are not only a convenient distraction

         15  from real- world problems such as crumbling public

         16  school system, war, and the proliferation of drugs

         17  and firearms, but they offer immediate satisfactions

         18  that cannot be equated by the much more difficult

         19  and complex enterprise of attacking the real root

         20  causes of violence in society.

         21                 One reason that social science

         22  studies in this area have not established adverse

         23  effect is that it is extremely difficult to define

         24  what we mean by "media violence" (or "video game

         25  violence").  Researchers use vastly different
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          2  examples of media violence in their experiments,

          3  which partially explains why there is no consistency

          4  in their results.  Legislators have the same problem

          5  defining what they want to restrict.

          6                 All of us acknowledge, I think, that

          7  violence is a perennially popular theme in art and

          8  entertainment, from children's fairy tales to war

          9  movies, from Homer's "Oddessy" to Mel Gibson's

         10   "Passion of the Christmas."  Introduction No. 18,

         11  which defines violence to include any fantasy

         12  depiction of "serious injury" resulting from crimes

         13  including "aggravated assault," with no attempt to

         14  make distinctions among games based on context,

         15  style, educational or artistic value, does not solve

         16  this problem of identifying exactly what, from among

         17  the many violent representations in history,

         18  fantasy, and adventure games, we think is harmful.

         19  This is a problem that plagues all laws, which

         20  restrict expression on a subject as broad and

         21  universal as human violence.

         22                 Many of us, myself included, are

         23  uncomfortable with the thought of youngsters

         24  spending hours gleefully slaughtering virtual video

         25  game enemies while imaginary blood and Gore fill the
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          2  screen.  For some small minority of players, all

          3  ready maladjusted or predisposed to violent

          4  behavior, excessive exposure to these violent games

          5  might indeed increase the likelihood that they will

          6  imitate the fantasy, although this is difficult, if

          7  not impossible to prove.

          8                 It is just as difficult to prove,

          9  incidentally, that for the great majority of other

         10  youngsters who enjoy video games, the games allow

         11  them a safe way, in the words of researcher Celiac

         12  Pierce, "to engage in fantasies of power to

         13  compensate for their own feelings of personal

         14  powerlessness."  Many scholars, including those who

         15  joined the friend of the court brief in the St.

         16  Louis case, believe, as Pierce put it, that "this

         17  role- playing function is important for children of

         18  all ages."

         19                 If censorship is a flawed,

         20  ineffective, and even counterproductive approach to

         21  widespread concerns about entertainment that many of

         22  us find repugnant and offensive, whether in video

         23  games or elsewhere, are there better ways to address

         24  those concerns?  The same Dr. Hill who was so

         25  candidate about the politics of media violence gave
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          2  the right answer: "Education, education, and more

          3  education."  Prohibitions may send messages of

          4  social disapproval, but they do not actually educate

          5  youngsters to be discerning consumers of culture, to

          6  understand the structure and profit motives of the

          7  entertainment industry, and to think critically

          8  about the values disseminated by the mass media,

          9  whether they concern violence, gender roles, or the

         10  voyeurism of reality TV.

         11                 Media literacy education is one

         12  productive way of addressing the problem; supporting

         13  youth media projects and nonviolent, nonprofit video

         14  game creation is another.  Restrictive laws, and

         15  even well- intentioned resolutions, are a

         16  distraction from these potentially effective ways of

         17  addressing social problems.  I urge the Council to

         18  reject the simplistic and ultimately ineffective

         19  approach of censorship.

         20

         21  Testimony of:

         22  West Powell

         23  Lawyer, Law Firm of Clifford Chance

         24  Member, Committee on Communications and Media Law of

         25  the Bar of the City of New York ("City Bar")
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          2                 Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman and

          3  members of the City Council.  My name is Wes Powell.

          4    I am a lawyer at the firm of Clifford Chance in

          5  New York, and a member of the Committee on

          6  Communications and Media Law of the Association of

          7  the Bar of the City of New York, ("City Bar").  I am

          8  testifying on behalf of the City Bar in connection

          9  with proposed legislation concerning access to

         10  certain video games, Introductions 18 and 60,

         11  sponsored by Council Members Brewer and Gioia,

         12  respectively.

         13                 I am here today to present for the

         14  Council's consideration in connection with this

         15  legislation a position paper published by the City

         16  Bar in 1997 called "Violence in the Media."

         17                 This was an analysis of the legality

         18  under the united State Constitution of government

         19  efforts to regulate violent content in the media,

         20  including in entertainment media such as television,

         21  movies, and videos.  I note at the outset that this

         22  position paper did not directly address video games.

         23    However, the paper analyzes regulation of violent

         24  content generally, and concludes that any

         25  legislative efforts to regulate violent content
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          2  raises serious questions of free speech underwent

          3  the First Amendment to the Constitution and is

          4  therefore legally suspect. This same general legal

          5  analysis applies to the two pieces of video game

          6  legislation before the Council today, so the City

          7  Bar's position paper is highly relevant to this

          8  discussion.  I will be submitting the position paper

          9  as part of the record of this hearing and hope it

         10  will be helpful to the Council.

         11                 I will highlight just a few key

         12  points from the position paper in my time here

         13  today.

         14                 Violent content is "speech" that is

         15  protected under the First Amendment.  A substantial

         16  number of state and federal courts have considered

         17  whether books, films, videos, and other media that

         18  depicted violent images should be treated

         19  differently than other forms of speech protected by

         20  the First Amendment.  Their answer has been No.

         21                 Because violent content is speech,

         22  any regulation that is proposed to regulate it must

         23  pass First Amendment scrutiny, which sets a high bar

         24  for such legislation.

         25                 Time and time again, courts have
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          2  applied First Amendment analysis and invalidated

          3  regulations targeted at violent content.  That is

          4  because legislation that regulates speech based on

          5  its content generally has been deemed

          6  unconstitutional.  So courts typically will

          7  invalidate laws that single out a specific type of

          8  content for special, more restrictive treatment.

          9                 Specifically, courts have invalidated

         10  not just laws that seek to restrict release or

         11  publication of violent material, but laws that

         12  regulate access, such as laws that prohibit sale and

         13  rental of violent videos to minors, or restrict the

         14  display of such videos because of their content.

         15                 The bottom line is that if government

         16  cannot, consistent with the First Amendment,

         17  prohibit the creation or release of a type of

         18  content, it generally cannot regulate access to it

         19  either.

         20                 Although the City Bar's report did

         21  not address video games specifically, I note that,

         22  as other panelists will report, federal courts since

         23  our report was issued have applied essentially the

         24  same analysis and invalidated regulations directed

         25  at allegedly violent video games.
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          2                 For more expansive discussion on

          3  these issues, I respectfully refer the Council to

          4  the City Bar's full report, which I have submitted

          5  for the record along with my written testimony.

          6  Thank you for you time.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 4:25 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, PAT WTULICH, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 30th day of March 2004.
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                                   ---------------------

         24                          PAT WTULICH
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          9            I, PAT WTULICH, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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